Specification

Edexcel GCSE in Spanish (1246) First examination 2003 November 2000



Edexcel is one of the leading examining and awarding bodies in the UK and throughout the world. We provide a wide range of qualifications including academic, vocational, occupational and specific programmes for employers.

Through a network of UK and overseas offices, Edexcel's centres receive the support they need to help them deliver their education and training programmes to learners.

For further information please call our Customer Response Centre on 0870 240 9800, or visit our website at www.edexcel.org.uk

Acknowledgements

This specification has been produced by Edexcel on the basis of consultation with teachers, examiners, consultants and other interested parties. Edexcel recognises and values all those who contributed their time and expertise to the development of GCSE specifications.

Authorised by Sue Parker

Publications Code UG008964

All the material in this publication is copyright
© Edexcel Foundation 2000

Contents

Introduction	1
Key features	1
Summary of the specification content and scheme of assessment	2
Availability of external assessment	4
Prior learning and progression	4
Forbidden combinations and links with other subjects	4
Specification aims and assessment objectives	5
National Qualifications Framework criteria	5
Aims	5
Assessment objectives	5
Knowledge, skills and understanding	6
Specification content and scheme of assessment	7
Paper 1: Listening and responding (Assessment Objective 1)	7
Paper 2: Speaking – terminal examination (Assessment Objective 2)	9
Paper 3: Reading and responding (Assessment Objective 3)	12
Paper 4: Writing – terminal examination (Assessment Objective 4)	14
Paper 4: Writing – coursework option (Assessment Objective 4)	15
Coursework guidance summary	16
Entry tiers	21
Relationship of assessment objectives to scheme of assessment	21
Internal assessment moderation procedures	21
Awarding, reporting and equivalence	22
Language of assessment	22
Candidates with particular requirements	23
Private candidates	23
Grade descriptions	24
Assessment criteria	26
Speaking	26
Writing	30
Writing – Coursework	38
Assessment overview	41

Learning and teaching requirements for key stag 4	ges 3 and 42
The wider curriculum	44
Key skills	44
Social, cultural, spiritual, moral and ethical issues	44
Education for citizenship	44
Information and communication technology	45
Environmental education, health and safety education and the and global dimension	ne European 45
Textbooks and other teaching resources	46
Examiners' comments and mark schemes	48
Support and training	49
Training	49
Website	49
Edexcel publications	49
Regional offices and Customer Response Centre	50
Appendices	51
Appendix 1 – Rubrics	53
Appendix 2 – Linguistic structures	55
Appendix 3 – Minimum core vocabulary	59
Appendix 4 – Procedures for internal assessment	73
Appendix 5 – Key skills	91

Introduction

This specification offers positive and appropriate assessment for modern language learners at key stage 4. Building on best practice, it affords students and teachers choice, flexibility and scope for linking learning activities to student interests and new technology. It promotes the development of different language skills and provides opportunities to apply these across a range of relevant contexts.

Key features

- Streamlined list of topic areas.
- Flexible approach to written coursework option free choice of topics or Edexcel taskbank.
- Increased choice of writing tasks at both tiers.
- Choice of Edexcel or teacher-marked oral (if coursework not undertaken).
- Increased focus on ICT.
- Full INSET support and professional advice and guidance.
- Coursework, student and teacher guides.
- Bilingual glossaries and student handbooks.
- Progression route to Edexcel AS/A GCE specifications.

Other GCSE qualifications in the Edexcel modern foreign languages portfolio

In addition to the modern foreign language GCSE featured in this specification, Edexcel offers:

French	(1226)
German	(1231)
Italian	(1237)
Urdu	(1901)
French – short course	(3226)

Single-tier GCSE specifications are available in:

Arabic	(1606/7*)
Chinese	(1666/7*)
Japanese	(1752/3*)
Modern Greek	(1776)
Russian	(1241)

^{*}An alternative three-skills GCSE (no speaking test) is available in Arabic, Chinese and Japanese.

Summary of the specification content and scheme of assessment

This specification provides a framework for the development of effective language learning and use of the target language and relates to the requirements of the national curriculum orders for modern foreign languages in England, Wales and Northern Ireland.

It combines an emphasis on communication skills with reward for practical knowledge and understanding of language structures and grammar. Rather than develop language within numerous topic areas, students will be encouraged to adapt and apply their target language to different contexts and situations. All papers are designed to match the language experience and maturity of students at key stage 4 and will draw on some of the language knowledge developed at key stage 3 or during initial exposure to the target language. The specification provides student-focused papers for listening and responding, speaking, reading and responding and writing. It also offers a written coursework or internally marked speaking test option.

A list of general topic areas and related sub-topics has been produced to provide learners with a clear focus but students will not cover all of these in each part of the examination. The speaking tests, for example, afford students an open choice of first conversation topic, but this is complemented by a reduced number of sub-topics for rôle-plays and for second conversation exploitation. Similarly, the written coursework option enables teachers and students to select three topic areas and all writing 'terminal' papers will involve a choice of questions.

Students should be entered for **each** paper at **either** Foundation **or** Higher Tier. The grid below shows the relationship between assessment objectives and examination components. Full assessment criteria for speaking and writing papers are given in this specification.

Assessment objective	Assessment objective Paper Method of assessment		Time
1 (Listening) 25%	1F – Foundation	Terminal examination (externally assessed)	30 mins (+ 5 mins reading time)
	1H – Higher	,	40 mins (+ 5 mins reading time)
A (G) 11) A 70 (2F – Foundation	Terminal examination	8-9 mins
2 (Speaking) 25%	2H – Higher	(internally or externally assessed*)	11-12 mins
	3F – Foundation	Terminal examination	40 mins
3 (Reading) 25%	3H – Higher	(externally assessed)	1 hr
	4F – Foundation	Terminal examination	50 mins
4 (Writing) 25%	4H – Higher	(externally assessed)	1 hr
	4C – Coursework option	Internal assessment	N/A

^{*}Please refer to section Availability of external assessment.

NB: Due to revised MFL GCSE criteria, the 2003 specification does not permit dictionary access in any terminal paper. However, students should continue to make use of a dictionary within the written coursework option and for general language-learning purposes.

Topic areas with related sub-topics

	•
At home and abroad	Things to see and do
	Life in the town, countryside, seaside
	Weather and climate
	Travel, transport and directions
	Holidays, tourist information and accommodation
	Services and shopping abroad
	Customs, everyday life and traditions in target- language countries and communities
Education, training and	School life and routine
employment	Different types of jobs
	Job advertisements, applications and interviews
	Future plans and work experience
House, home and daily routine	Types of home, rooms, furniture and garden
	Information about self, family and friends
	Helping around the house
	Food and drink
Media, entertainment and	Sport, fashion and entertainment
youth culture	Famous personalities
	The media
	Current affairs, social and environmental issues
Social activities, fitness and	Free time (evenings, weekends, meeting people)
health	Special occasions
	Hobbies, interests, sports and exercise
	Shopping and money matters
	Accidents, injuries, common ailments and health issues (smoking, drugs)

Availability of external assessment

Students may be externally assessed in all four skills. First assessment of this specification will be in summer 2003. Assessment will be available in each summer examination session thereafter.

Centres may offer students a written coursework option instead of the terminal writing paper. In this case, students' work will be internally marked and sent to Edexcel for final moderation. Similarly, centres may undertake internal marking of speaking tests, but they are unable to do this if they also offer the written coursework option. This reflects the revised GCSE criteria for Modern Foreign Languages which restrict internal assessment to 30% (maximum) of the total marks across all papers. There is no tier of entry for the written coursework option.

Prior learning and progression

This specification builds on the knowledge, understanding and skills established by the national curriculum at key stages 1, 2 and 3. It provides a foundation for further study at levels 2 and 3 in the National Qualifications Framework, including AS and Advanced GCEs and applied language optional units within AVCE programmes.

Forbidden combinations and links with other subjects

Every specification is assigned to a national classification code indicating the subject area to which it belongs. Centres should be aware that students who enter for more than one GCSE qualification with the same classification code will have only one grade (the highest) counted for the purpose of the school and college performance tables.

The classification code for this specification is 5750.

Students entering for this specification may not, in the same series of examinations, enter for any other specification with the same title. It is not permitted to take both short course and full course GCSE examinations in the same language.

Specification aims and assessment objectives

National Qualifications Framework criteria

This specification is based on the common criteria and the GCSE criteria, which are prescribed by the regulatory authorities including QCA and are mandatory for all awarding bodies. It is also derived from the prescribed subject criteria for modern foreign languages.

Aims

The aim of this GCSE specification is to provide a framework for the development of different skills, knowledge and understanding in a modern foreign language. It is designed to enable students to:

- develop understanding of the spoken and written forms of the modern foreign language in a range of contexts
- develop the ability to communicate effectively in the modern foreign language, through both the spoken and written word, using a range of vocabulary and structures
- develop knowledge and understanding of the grammar of the modern foreign language, and the ability to apply it
- apply their knowledge and understanding in a variety of relevant contexts which reflect their previous learning and maturity
- develop knowledge and understanding of countries and communities where the modern foreign language is spoken
- develop positive attitudes to modern foreign language learning
- provide a suitable foundation for further study and/or practical use of the modern foreign language.

Assessment objectives

All students will be required to demonstrate an ability to:

AO1	understand and respond to spoken language	25%
AO2	communicate in speech, showing knowledge of and applying accurately the grammar and structures prescribed in the specification	25%
AO3	understand and respond to written language	25%
AO4	communicate in writing, showing knowledge of and applying accurately the grammar and structures prescribed in the specification	25%

Knowledge, skills and understanding

The specification complements and corresponds to the learning and teaching requirements for Key Stages 3 and 4 of the national curriculum for England as listed below:

- acquiring knowledge and understanding of the target language
- developing language skills
- developing language-learning skills
- developing cultural awareness
- breadth of study.

Further information is given in *Learning and teaching requirements*.

Foundation students will be required to:

- listen and respond to different types of spoken language
- express themselves in speech using a range of vocabulary, syntax and structures
- read and respond to different types of written language, including texts from ICT-based sources
- express themselves in writing using a range of vocabulary, syntax and structures
- understand and apply the grammar of the modern foreign language, as detailed in the specification for Foundation Tier
- respond to materials from countries and communities where the modern foreign language is spoken.

In addition, Higher Tier students will be expected to:

- listen and respond to longer and more complex extracts of spoken language, including some unfamiliar material
- speak at greater length, using a wider range of vocabulary and more complex syntax and structures
- read and respond to longer and more complex written texts, including some unfamiliar material
- write at greater length, using a wider range of vocabulary and more complex syntax and structures
- understand and apply the grammar of the modern foreign language, as detailed in the specification for Higher Tier.

Specification content and scheme of assessment

Paper 1: Listening and responding (Assessment Objective 1)

Two tests will be set, one for the Foundation Tier and one for the Higher Tier.

Candidates will be required to listen to a range of authentic recorded material spoken by native speakers. The teacher supervising the test will be required to stop the tape at appropriate points to allow candidates sufficient time to write their answers. Extracts will be of varying lengths and no undue burden will be placed on memory. Speed of delivery will range from near normal to normal and all recordings will be heard twice. Candidates will be given five minutes reading time immediately before the start of this examination paper. Before each section, the topic title and scenario will be introduced, followed by the rubric 'read the following questions'.

The questions will elicit a combination of non-verbal responses, target-language answers and answers in English. Up to 20% of the tasks set will require responses in English and these tasks will usually be placed at the end of the test.

A range of test-types will be used in each tier and may include grid completion, multiple-choice, matching, form or plan completion, note-taking, questions in the target language and interpreting tasks. Where a response is required in English, tasks could include guided note taking or summary.

Assessment

Marks will be allocated for communicating an easily identifiable correct response and no marks will be awarded for use of English where a target-language response is required (and vice versa). Foundation Tier questions will be presented in a 'peaks and troughs' format, which encourages candidates to complete the whole paper. A candidate experiencing difficulty with one particular task may find the next task more accessible since there is no progressive incline of difficulty.

Foundation Tier (Paper 1F)

The recorded material may include instructions, announcements, telephone messages, short narratives, descriptions and dialogues, short news items and advertisements.

Candidates will be required to:

- identify and note main points
- extract specific details.

Additionally, questions targeted at grades D and C may require candidates to:

- identify points of view
- show some understanding of familiar language in unfamiliar contexts
- understand reference to past, present and future events.

Higher Tier (Paper 1H)

The recorded material will include some items from the Foundation Tier and, in addition, a wider variety of spoken texts, such as extracts from radio broadcasts, discussions, presentations and interviews.

Candidates will be required to:

- identify and note main points
- extract specific details
- identify points of view
- recognise attitudes and emotions
- draw conclusions
- understand reference to past, present and future events.

Paper 2: Speaking – terminal examination (Assessment Objective 2)

The format of the test is the same for Foundation and Higher Tiers as all candidates will carry out two rôle-play tasks and take part in a conversation on two topics. Although assessment should be qualitative rather than quantitative, it is expected that the speaking tests will last 8-9 minutes (Foundation) and 11-12 minutes (Higher). Candidates are able to score the highest marks without a 'perfect' command of the target language.

Rôle-plays

The rôle-play tasks will be presented in the form of instructions in English together with visual stimuli or short prompts in the target language. **All** rôle-plays will be marked for **communication only**. A grid is provided below to indicate possible situations for the different types of rôle-play. Candidates will be allocated preparation time (without dictionary access) immediately in advance of the test.

Rôle-play A is a simple transaction requiring the candidate to convey four basic pieces of information. It will usually be a task related to shopping, tourist requirements, café/restaurant or accommodation situations that will involve a limited range of vocabulary and structure (Foundation Tier only).

Rôle-play B is a transaction that will involve a limited amount of unpredictability (one element) and will occur in a wider range of settings (Foundation and Higher Tiers).

Rôle-play C will involve two unpredictable elements and will cover a different topic area. Candidates will be expected to expand on the bullet points as appropriate (Higher-Tier only).

Possible topics/situations for rôle-plays A, B and C

Topics for rôle-play	Rôle-play A	Rôle-play B	Rôle-play C
Shopping and services	1	✓	
Tourist requirements	✓	✓	
Café/restaurant	1	1	
Accommodation (including staying with a family)	1	1	✓
Travel arrangements		1	✓
Entertainment		1	1
School		1	✓
Telephone calls – social and workplace (may include arranging meetings)		1	1
Asking for information		✓	1
Applying for a job			1
Reporting and dealing with problems			✓

Conversations

Candidates must undertake two conversations and will be assessed globally on the basis of their performance across both topics.

Conversation 1

Candidates will have a **free choice** of first conversation topic. This will be agreed with the teacher in advance of the speaking test and should relate to any of the five main topic areas. For the first conversation, candidates may bring brief notes or a visual stimulus into the examination (no larger than an A5 piece of paper). A few target-language bullet points or a simple 'spider diagram' would be acceptable. Candidates will have the opportunity to introduce briefly their chosen topic (one minute maximum) to enable them to make a confident start.

Although there is a free choice of topic area for the initial conversation, possible examples of candidate topic choices are given below. Exact topic choice will depend on the interests and language experience of the individual candidate. Those aiming at grade C and above will be expected to express opinions and use past, present and future tenses.

At home and abroad	My best holiday ever	
Education, training and employment	My work experience at	
House, home and daily routine	My ideal home	
Media, entertainment and youth culture	(famous personality)	
Social activities, fitness and health	My free time	

Conversation 2

The second topic will be allocated on a random basis as prescribed by Edexcel and will require the teacher-examiner to choose from a limited choice of two. (This will ensure that the second conversation topic is different to the main topic area selected for the first conversation.) Guidance on the types of question to be asked will be supplied to ensure that candidates are given the opportunity to demonstrate their linguistic skills at an appropriate level. These will be sample questions showing how a conversation may be developed to allow candidate expansion within the related topic area, and are not compulsory.

Teachers will be free to develop **any** related conversation sub-topic or sub-topics and possible examples of these are identified in the following grid. Although the choice and use of these sub-topics is at the teacher's discretion, there is no requirement to develop any additional sub-topics to those listed, although this will be permissible.

As in the first conversation, those aiming at grade C and above will be expected to express opinions and use past, present and future tenses.

Suggested sub-topics

At home and abroad	My region/town (or region/town in target- language country that the candidate has either visited or researched)	
	Holidays	
Education, training and employment	School life and routine	
	Future plans	
	Work experience (if appropriate)	
House, home and daily routine	My home and domestic routine	
	Family	
	Friends	
	Food and drink	
Media, entertainment and youth culture	Television/cinema/music/theatre	
Social activities, fitness and health	Sports/exercise	
	Free time/interests	
	Health issues	

For example, a candidate undertaking the second conversation topic area of Education, training and employment could talk about all the related sub-topics (school life and routine, future plans and work experience) or focus on just one. A revised bank of possible linked questions will be available.

Assessment arrangements

All speaking tests will be conducted by the teacher-examiner and recorded on a date chosen by the centre within a period specified annually by Edexcel. Centres send tests to Edexcel for marking or, if not offering the written coursework option, may undertake teacher-examiner marking. Edexcel moderates all centre marking. Please refer to the assessment criteria for marking grids. Further support (including candidate samples and assessment commentaries) will be available in the Edexcel teachers' guide and at INSET training sessions.

Paper 3: Reading and responding (Assessment Objective 3)

Two tests will be set, one for the Foundation Tier and one for the Higher Tier.

Candidates will be required to read a range of authentic written material of varying lengths. The questions will elicit a combination of non-verbal responses, target-language answers and answers in English. Up to 20% of the tasks set may require responses in English. These tasks will usually be placed at the end of the test.

A range of test-types will be used in each tier and may include grid completion, matching, form or plan completion, multiple-choice, note-taking, cloze tests, summary, questions in the target language and interpreting tasks. Where a response is required in English, tasks could include guided note-taking or summary.

Students will be exposed to a range of stimuli (advertisements, articles and short passages) and these will include texts from ICT-based sources.

Assessment

Marks will be allocated for communicating an easily identifiable correct response and no marks will be awarded for use of English where a target-language response is required (and vice versa). Foundation Tier questions will be presented in a 'peaks and troughs' format which encourages candidates to complete the whole paper. A candidate experiencing difficulty with one particular task may find the next task more accessible since there is no progressive incline of difficulty.

Foundation Tier (Paper 3F)

The material for the test may include signs, notices, short advertisements, messages and letters (both printed and hand-written), information leaflets and newspaper and magazine extracts. Candidates will be required to:

- identify and note main points
- extract specific details.

Additionally, questions targeted at grades D and C may require candidates to:

- identify points of view
- show some understanding of unfamiliar language
- understand reference to past, present and future events.

Most tasks at Foundation Tier will not require a written response in the target language.

Higher Tier (Paper 3H)

The test will include some items from the Foundation Tier. In addition, candidates will be required to respond to some longer texts, both factual and non-factual.

Candidates will be required to:

- identify and note main points
- extract specific details
- identify points of view
- recognise attitudes and emotions
- draw inferences and conclusions
- understand reference to past, present and future events.

Paper 4: Writing – terminal examination (Assessment Objective 4)

Two tests will be set, one for the Foundation Tier and one for the Higher Tier. These reward candidates for communication and content as well as for knowledge and application of grammar and structures

Foundation Tier (Paper 4F)

Candidates will be required to complete four tasks in the target language, ranging from one which requires single word or short sentence answers, to a longer piece of writing related to a variety of topics, including past, present and future events.

- **Task 1:** Candidates will be required to write short lists or fill in a form or questionnaire using individual words. The task will be marked for communication only and instructions will be in English (10 marks)
- **Task 2**: Candidates will be required to write about five simple phrases in response to visual and simple target-language stimuli. Task instructions will be in English. (10 marks)
- **Task 3**: Candidates will be required to write a postcard or similar message of approximately 30 words. Task instructions will be in English. (10 marks)
- **Task 4**: Candidates will be offered a choice of task and will be required to produce a piece of continuous writing of between 70 and 80 words. A task could be a reply to a short letter in the target language, the expansion of notes, or be based on visuals or other simple stimuli written in the target language. Instructions will be given in English. (20 marks)

Higher Tier (Paper 4H)

Candidates will be required to complete two tasks in the target language.

The first task of the Higher Tier will be the final task of the Foundation Tier. Additionally, candidates will be required to produce a piece of writing of about 150 words. They will select one task from a choice of two.

Candidates may be required to narrate events, express ideas and justify points of view. They will be expected to produce longer sequences of writing, using a wider range of vocabulary, structures and time references.

- Task 1: Candidates will be offered a choice of task and will be required to produce a piece of continuous writing of between 70 and 80 words. A task could be a reply to a short letter in the target language, the expansion of notes or be based on visuals or other simple stimuli written in the target language. Instructions will be given in English. (20 marks)
- Task 2: Candidates will be offered a choice of task and will be required to produce a piece of about 150 words. Questions will be set so that candidates can undertake either narrative or discursive writing. These may be factual or imaginary narratives or involve extended letter writing. They may be based on stimuli in the target language, visuals or a combination of both. Instructions will be given in the target language. (30 marks)

Paper 4: Writing – coursework option (Assessment Objective 4)

Centres may offer the written coursework as an alternative to the terminal assessment of Paper 4 Writing. There are no tiers of entry for this option which offers opportunities for creative target-language writing. It may help to increase motivation since candidates are free to undertake coursework that clearly reflects their interests and experiences. Coursework will be assessed for communication as well as for knowledge and application of grammar and structures.

Students will be required to submit **three** units of work which must each relate to a different main topic area (At home and abroad, Education, training and employment, House, home and daily routine, Media, entertainment and youth culture and Social activities, fitness and health).

Teachers should encourage candidates to produce a number of pieces of work for each unit in order that their best work can be selected for assessment.

The number of words that students are expected to submit is linked to the requirements for the terminal examination in this skill area. Students aiming for Grades G-D should aim to submit 250-350 words over the three units. Students aiming for Grades C-A* should aim to submit 500-600 words. These word counts should be equally divided between all three units whenever possible.

Please refer to the Coursework guidance summary for further information.

Coursework guidance summary

Choosing appropriate tasks

A unit may consist of a collection of simple tasks possibly involving short sentences or substitution (appropriate for grades G, F and E) or it may be a single piece of extended writing. Coursework tasks can be set for exploitation at different levels and should enable candidates to access the full range of marks. This specification lists a range of possible coursework tasks although these are not prescriptive and can be adapted. Teachers are advised to refer to both the grade descriptions and the assessment criteria for writing (coursework) when trying to choose an appropriate task or stimulus. Tasks set for those aiming at grade C or above must provide opportunities for candidates to give opinions, to demonstrate competence in the manipulation of different tenses and to undertake both factual and imaginative writing. In addition, those seeking grade A or above will need to produce evidence of extended writing skills and justification of ideas/points of view.

When a unit of coursework is made up of two or more pieces of work, these should be linked to a discrete theme within the main topic area.

Authentic source material

Authentic material can be gathered from a variety of sources and can be used at all levels. Websites, newspapers and magazines, for example, will provide not only stimulating articles for students at the higher end of the ability range, but also advertisements, pictures, entertainment guides, etc which can be used for all students. Most teachers are in the habit of gathering authentic materials such as brochures, information leaflets, pictures, etc on trips abroad and pupils should be encouraged to do the same. Over time it is possible to build up an extensive bank of authentic material.

Other sources

Suggestions for further sources are given below, but remember that stimulus material does not have to be in the target language, so there may be many more sources available to you.

- Websites
- Language-specific items in *The Guardian Education*
- Charities such as Action Aid, Oxfam, Friends of the Earth
- Video/films, including language programmes for schools
- Link/exchange schools (especially for school magazines)
- Foreign language assistants and other members of staff

Preparation and pre-teaching

A certain amount of the work may be done outside the classroom, in particular where a task requires the use of information and communication technology (ICT) or where the task is based on extended reading. However, it is expected that **at least** a third of the work will be done under controlled conditions in class time and this **must include one complete coursework unit**. Candidates may have access to a dictionary at all stages during the production of their work and this may include online dictionaries and spellcheckers.

Guidance on activities that may be appropriate for students aiming at particular grades is provided in the following grids and more suggestions are given in the coursework guide. These tasks are divided into three types, ranging from those that require individual words and phrases to those that require extended responses using a wide range of vocabulary and structures. Examples of stimulus material that could form the basis for some of these tasks will be provided in the Teachers' Guide, together with authentic candidate samples and assessment commentaries. The targeted grades given in the following chart are only suggestions and it is recognised that many of the tasks could be expanded to enable candidates to demonstrate linguistic skills at a higher level than those indicated. Teachers will be free to use this material; alternatively they may provide their own or use the task bank as the basis for creating their own tasks. When deciding on particular tasks for different levels of candidates, teachers should refer to the assessment criteria to ensure that candidates are given every opportunity to demonstrate their linguistic capability.

The work of all candidates will be marked using the assessment criteria listed in this specification.

Description of coursework task types and sample coursework activities

Task type 1 - lists, labelling, short messages, gap-fill tasks, short letters

For G/F candidates, a typical unit might contain some lists, a key to a map or plan, a labelled photo, diagram or graph, a completed form or questionnaire, captions for a poster, filled gaps in a model letter, or answers to short stimulus messages. Different types of task generate different types of language and a variety of tasks will therefore allow candidates to show a wider range of language skills and will be more interesting for them.

Task type 2 — longer letters, articles, descriptions, accounts which give candidates the opportunity to use different tenses and to express opinions

For a wide range of candidates a mix of letters, narrative accounts, and descriptive writing would be appropriate, and levels will be differentiated by outcome.

Task type 3 – extended writing tasks giving candidates the opportunity to express ideas, justify points of view and research their own interests

For the most able students, where each unit may contain just one extended piece of writing, it will be particularly important to ensure a mix of tasks. One piece might be narrative, with comment and opinion on the events related; one might be more discursive, such as an article on a topical issue such as environment or health; another could be a letter, or a film or book review.

Selecting passages from literary works as stimulus material is usually only suitable for a minority of candidates at the higher end of the ability range. However, literary texts can provide a stimulating source for these candidates and can be a very useful bridge to the kind of work required at AS or Advanced GCE.

Target grades	At home and abroad	Education, training and employment	
	Things to see and do Life in the town, countryside, seaside Weather and climate Travel, transport and directions Holidays, tourist information and accommodation Services and shopping abroad Customs, everyday life and traditions	School life and routine Different types of jobs Job adverts, applications and interviews Future plans and work experience	
G, F, E	 Type 1: List or labelled plan of local attractions for a foreign visitor Postcard about home town in response to one from penfriend Letter booking accommodation (gapfilling or substitution) List of holiday luggage requirements Captions for pictures of national events Holiday postcard 	 Type 1: Reply to a friend's letter about school day/favourite subjects (adapting a model letter) Gap-filling letter applying for a holiday job Send fax to company stating that your work experience start date will change Postcard describing holiday job E mail a list of facilities at workplace or school to a visitor from abroad 	
D,C	 Type 2: Description of a local attraction Letter to exchange school stating facilities (sport, cultural, amusements) in your area Survey and report of views about local facilities Letter/fax to business contact or penfriend giving or requesting travel information – eg flight numbers, train links, hotel arrangements etc Account of a visit or a trip, based on diary or photos 	 Type 2: Poem/song lyrics about school (possibly with visual element) Informal letter outlining plans for the future Letter to prospective employer asking about hours/conditions of work, pay Diary of work experience or a holiday job Letter/fax/email to a company placing an order 	
B,A,A*	 Type 3: Leaflet/brochure about local area for visiting exchange school Description of your town as it was 50 years ago or as you imagine it in 50 years time Complaint letter to hotel or travel company Research into different methods of transport for travel abroad, eg methods of crossing the Channel with evaluations and personal preferences 	 Type 3: Survey about school reports, parents' evenings, etc with evaluation including own opinion Article giving advice to young people wanting a holiday job Article about advantages and disadvantages of work experience An account of a work-shadowing exercise for a magazine Job application letter in response to advert 	

House, home and daily routine	Media, entertainment and youth culture	Social activities, fitness and health		
Types of home, rooms, furniture, and garden Information about self, family and friends Helping around the house Food and drink	Sport, fashion and entertainment Famous personalities The media Current affairs, social and environmental issues	Free time (evenings, weekends) Special occasions Hobbies, interests and sports Shopping and money matters Meeting people Exercise Accidents, injuries and common ailments Health issues (healthy eating, drugs)		
 Type 1: Plan or photo of house or room – labelled Shopping list of food or drink for a picnic Fill in form to find a penfriend Simple family tree 	 Type 1: Captions for a poster on a topical, social or environmental issue Fact sheet about a well-known person (artist, sports person, actor, musician) 	 Type 1: Survey on spare time activities List of what you spend pocket money on Labelled plan of a shopping centre Captions about health and fitness for a poster A simplified fitness-maintenance plan 		
 Type 2: An account for foreign language school magazine of typical day in your life Writing up a favourite recipe An account of a visit to a restaurant or a special celebration meal Informal letter introducing yourself or family to a new penfriend or to a new business contact Description of a member of the family or friend 	Type 2: • Magazine interview with personality • Informal letter describing favourite types of film or television programme • Summary of a sports event	Type 2: • An account of a visit to an event eg concert, theatre trip, football match, motor show etc. • Diary recording free-time activities/typical weekend • Response to a wedding invitation • Informal letter/email to a penfriend giving information about an illness/ailment that you have • Survey and report of views on a health issue (eg smoking) • Magazine interview with a fitness adviser or former smoker		
Type 3: Discursive writing on division of household chores Article on differences between homes/housing in the United Kingdom and a target-language country	 Type 3: Review of book/film, TV programme Response to 'agony column' type letter on disagreements with parents about pocket money, clothes, friends, etc. Letter to a newspaper expressing concern over a topical, social or environmental issue Detailed article about a person who has been in the news in the last six months 	 Type 3: Letter of complaint to organisers of concert or other event (too dear, badly organised, lack of safety precautions, etc) Report/survey with opinions about shopping issues (eg – advantages and disadvantages of Internet or supermarket shopping) Describe an accident that you have witnessed or experienced Discursive writing on a health issue 		

Drafting arrangements

Teachers should discuss the tasks to be completed with students and may suggest ways in which the stimulus material could be exploited. Students have an opportunity* to produce a first draft of all work submitted and teachers can make general comments on performance on the standard coursework draft feedback sheet, eg indicate an area that would benefit from greater detail, highlight areas that need attention, such as agreements, verbs, spelling, (a coursework feedback form appears in *Appendix 4*). They may not, however, correct specific points of language or grammar. The feedback sheets encourage candidates to develop skills in identifying language errors for themselves without specific teacher references. Teachers **must not** write on the student's first draft and should submit completed coursework draft feedback sheets for the first draft of each piece of work submitted. First drafts do not have to be submitted for work not undertaken in controlled conditions but should be available to moderators on request.

*The undertaking of a draft is not a requirement of this specification

Summary of controlled conditions

Controlled conditions provide an effective way of verifying coursework authenticity and are defined as follows:

- at least a third of the total coursework for each candidate must be produced under controlled conditions, but teachers may increase this proportion at their discretion
- work must be done in the classroom and supervised by the teacher
- candidates may only have access to the task stimulus and a dictionary (which may be online)
- all stimulus material other than a dictionary must be submitted in the candidate's folder
- ideally, work should be completed in a single session but if this is not possible, the teacher must store it securely until the next controlled conditions session
- a record must be kept of when and under what conditions the work in the candidate's folder was completed. A coursework frontsheet will be provided for this purpose
- candidates will know the coursework task in advance of the controlled conditions and may prepare a first draft in advance. First drafts should not be referred to under controlled conditions and must be submitted in the candidate's folder of work
- teachers will be required to authenticate the coursework as the candidate's own work.

Submission

The coursework must be submitted by the end of the first week in May in the year of the examination. Centres may either spread the work over a two-year course or arrange for its completion in the final year of the course. However, all the work will be assessed to the same standard against the same criteria. Please refer to *Appendix 4* for further guidance on submission procedures.

In order to assess work accurately and measure the degree of candidates' language manipulation and creativity, centres are required to make a formal declaration of source and support materials used (including traditional and on-line dictionaries). They must also submit a copy of centre-devised worksheets, website pages and copies of relevant pages from course books used with each sample or group of samples submitted.

The coursework submission will be marked by the teacher-examiner and sent to Edexcel's moderators for moderation on a sampling basis. In accordance with the Mandatory Code of Practice, centres must standardise assessment across different teachers and teaching groups to ensure that all candidates in a centre have been judged against the same standards. Teachers must also ensure that the tasks used across different teaching groups and languages (where possible) are comparable.

Detailed instructions on standardisation of marking and moderation procedures appear in the *Appendix 4*.

Assessment guidance

There are three assessment grids for the writing coursework:

- Communication and content
- Knowledge and application of language
- Accuracy of language.

Teachers should assess each unit of work **globally** and award a maximum of ten marks for Communication and content, a maximum of five marks for Knowledge and application of language, and a maximum of five marks for the Accuracy of language. The three sets of marks for each unit should then be entered on the coursework frontsheet, and the nine marks for the three units aggregated to give a final total out of 60.

Entry tiers

Candidates for this qualification must be entered for one of two tiers for **each** of the four language papers. However, entry of candidates for the writing coursework option is not tiered. The Higher Tier is targeted at grades A* to D, and the Foundation Tier is targeted at grades C to G. Mechanisms are in place to combine a candidate's achievement in papers of different tiers and so produce an overall grade. Candidates should be entered at the tier most appropriate to their level of competence. A safety net is provided for candidates entered for the Higher Tier in this specification, and an allowed grade E can be awarded on the Higher Tier. Candidates failing to achieve grade E on a Higher Tier paper will be reported as unclassified on that paper. When registering candidate for MFL GCSE examinations, Edexcel does not require centres to specify the tier of entry.

Relationship of assessment objectives to scheme of assessment

The table on page 2 (Summary of specification content and assessment) shows the overall weightings of the assessment objectives in relation to each of the examination components.

Internal assessment moderation procedures

To assist centres and to provide all the information required within this document, detailed internal assessment moderation procedures are given in *Appendix 4*. If it proves necessary to amend these details in any way in the future, centres will receive separate notification.

Awarding, reporting and equivalence

The grading, awarding and certification of this specification will comply with the requirements of the GCSE and GCE A/AS Code of Practice for courses starting in September 2001, which is published by QCA. Qualifications will be graded and certificated on an eight-grade scale from A* to G. The full qualification may be taken more than once. GCSEs have broad equivalence to General National Vocational Qualifications in the following terms:

- two GCSEs at grade D to G and two GCSEs at grade A* to C are equivalent to one threeunit GNVQ at Foundation and Intermediate level respectively
- four GCSEs at grade D to G and four GCSEs at grade A* to C are equivalent to one six-unit GNVQ at Foundation and Intermediate level respectively.

This GCSE offers a distinctive, key stage 4-focused accreditation pathway with qualification specific aims and assessment objectives. The identified main topic areas are unique to this qualification but there is some overlap with other key stage 4 qualifications.

The Edexcel Certification of Achievement in Spanish requires candidate exposure to the same general contexts:

- everyday activities
- personal and social life
- the world around us
- the world of work
- the international world.

The Edexcel GNVQ language units (Spanish) at Foundation and Intermediate level also involve language learning through the contexts of **The world around us** and **The world of work.** Achievement in a MFL GNVQ equates to a short course GCSE (D-G grade at Foundation Tier or C-A* at Intermediate level).

Language of assessment

Assessment of this specification will be through non-verbal or target-language responses although up to 20% of the tasks set in listening and reading papers will require responses in English. This is necessary in contexts which include simple authentic interpreting situations (eg your friend is unable to read Spanish and wants to know...). Assessment materials will be published in the target language with some English support provided where appropriate (eg contextualisation within speaking and writing papers). All questions in the Foundation Tier writing paper will have rubrics printed in English. This will also apply to the first question in the Higher Tier writing paper.

Candidates with particular requirements

Regulations and guidance relating to candidates with special requirements are published annually by the Joint Council for General Qualifications and are circulated to examinations officers. Further copies of guidance documentation may be obtained from the following address or by telephoning 0870 240 9800.

Edexcel will assess whether or not special consideration or concession can be made for candidates with particular requirements. Requests should be addressed to:

Special Requirements Edexcel Foundation Stewart House 32 Russell Square London WC1B 5DN

Private candidates

This specification is available to private candidates. Please contact the Edexcel Customer Response Centre on 0870 240 9800 for further details.

Grade descriptions

Grade descriptions are provided to give a general indication of the standards of achievement likely to have been shown by candidates awarded particular grades. The descriptions must be interpreted in relation to the content specified by the specification; they are not designed to define that content. The grade awarded will depend in practice upon the extent to which the candidate has met the assessment objectives overall. Shortcomings in some aspects of the assessment may be balanced by better performances in others.

Grade F

Listening Candidates identify and note main points and extract some details from simple language spoken clearly at near normal speed.

Speaking Candidates take part in simple conversations showing some ability to substitute words and phrases. Their pronunciation is generally accurate, and although there may be grammatical inaccuracies, the main points are communicated.

Reading Candidates identify main points and extract some information from short, simple texts. They use context to work out the meaning of words.

Writing Candidates write short sentences, and respond to written texts by substituting words and set phrases. Although there may be mistakes in spelling and grammar, the main points are communicated.

Grade C

Listening Candidates identify and note main points and extract details and points of view from language spoken at normal speed. The spoken texts include past and future events. They are drawn from a variety of topics that include familiar language in unfamiliar contexts.

Speaking Candidates develop conversations and simple discussions which include past, present and future events, involving the use of different tenses. They express personal opinions and show an ability to deal with some unpredictable elements. Although there may be some errors, they convey a clear message, and their pronunciation and intonation are generally accurate.

Reading Candidates identify and extract details and points of view from authentic and simulated texts, drawn from a variety of topics and which include past, present and future events.

They show an ability to understand unfamiliar language.

Writing Candidates express personal opinions and write about a variety of topics, both factually and imaginatively, including past, present and future events and involving the use of different tenses. They use an appropriate register. The style is basic but despite some errors the writing conveys a clear message.

Grade A

Candidates understand gist and identify main points and detail in a variety of types Listening of authentic spoken language. They recognise points of view, attitudes and

emotions and are able to draw conclusions.

Candidates initiate and develop conversations and discussions, and narrate events. Speaking They express and justify ideas and points of view, and produce longer sequences of

speech using a variety of vocabulary, structures and verb tenses. They speak confidently, with good pronunciation and intonation. The message is clear although there may still be some errors, especially when candidates use more complex

structures.

Reading Candidates understand gist and identify main points and detail in a variety of types

> of authentic texts. They recognise points of view, attitudes and emotions and are able to draw conclusions. They show an ability to understand unfamiliar language

and to extract meaning from more complex language.

Writing Candidates give information and narrate events both factually and imaginatively.

> They express and justify ideas and points of view. They produce longer sequences using a range of vocabulary, structure and verb tenses. Their spelling and grammar

are generally accurate, and the style is appropriate to the purpose.

Assessment criteria

Assessment criteria are designed to reward learners at GCSE level. It will therefore not be necessary for candidates to perform 'perfectly' in order to attract the highest marks available in each grid. References to 'standard' etc should be interpreted in this context.

Minor errors could include the **occasional** omission of accents, incorrect gender, article, slight spelling errors, auxiliary verb or adjectival agreement.

Major errors could include the **consistent** mismatching of subject and verb forms, use of inappropriate tenses and/or incorrect vocabulary.

Speaking

Marks for rôle-play performances are awarded positively on a scale of 1-10 using the following assessment grids. The mark awarded reflects the extent to which the task as a whole has been successfully communicated and completed. To determine whether a candidate should gain the upper or lower number of marks in the box which best describes the performance, it is important to refer to the boxes above and below. If the candidate's performance borders more on the performance of the box below than the box above, then the lower mark is allocated. On certain occasions, a candidate performance may require a 'best fit' mark.

Rôle-play A	Communication and content
9-10	Conveys all information required Interacts extremely well No prompting necessary
7-8	Conveys most information required (At least three prescribed tasks) Little or no prompting necessary
5-6	Conveys half the required information (At least two prescribed tasks) Little prompting necessary
3-4	Conveys less than half the required information (At least one prescribed task) Some prompting necessary
1-2	One prescribed task completed satisfactorily Extremely hesitant, reliant on prompting
0	No effective communication.

Rôle-play B	Communication and content
9-10	Conveys all information required Deals with unpredictable element with success Interacts well No prompting necessary (takes the initiative)
7-8	Conveys most of the information required One element with partial success Little hesitation Little or no prompting necessary
5-6	Conveys most essential information One element omitted or unsuccessful A degree of hesitation
3-4	Conveys some information Does not attempt some of the tasks Some prompting necessary
1-2	Conveys only one relevant piece of information Extremely hesitant Reliant on prompting
0	No effective communication

Rôle-play C	Communication and content
9-10	All prescribed elements conveyed without ambiguity and without prompting from the teacher-examiner. Takes the initiative and expands. Deals with both unpredictable elements without difficulty. Very little or no hesitation.
7-8	Conveys all predictable information required and attempts unpredictable with partial success (or) conveys both unpredictable elements and most of the predictable information required. Produces extended replies. Minimal hesitation evident.
5-6	One element omitted or whole rôle-play attempted, but not successfully. A degree of hesitation evident but not unduly reliant on the teacher-examiner. Some significant language error which impedes communication to some extent. Unable to deal with unpredictable elements.
3-4	Conveys some of the prescribed elements without ambiguity. Hesitant and reliant to some extent on the teacher-examiner. Does not attempt some of the tasks.
1-2	Conveys only one element without ambiguity. Extremely hesitant. Communication seriously impaired through poor pronunciation and language errors.
0	No effective communication.

Assessment criteria – Conversation (Foundation and Higher Tiers)

Candidates can gain up to ten marks in each of the following:

Communication and content

Application of language

Accuracy.

Marks are not allocated separately for each topic but are awarded for performance throughout the full conversation (both topics). Please refer to the following assessment grid.

Conversation

	Communication and content		Application of language		Accuracy
9-10	Responds very well indeed to a wide range of question types. Extremely responsive, expands and develops relevant interchange on own initiative. Clearly expresses wide range of opinions and attitudes. Frequently justifies opinions.	9-10	Deploys a very wide range of structures and lexis as appropriate to questions. Use of some more complex lexical items. Very competent use of present, past and future modes.	9-10	Very accurate indeed although isolated, usually insignificant, errors may occur. Pronunciation and intonation of a consistently good standard.
7-8	Responds well to a wide range of question types although occasional prompting required. Takes initiative/develops more elaborate responses. Conveys opinions without undue difficulty.	7-8	Generally at ease with subordination. Uses reasonably wide and mostly appropriate range of structure and lexis. Unambiguous use of tenses other than the present.	7-8	Generally accurate in straightforward language but errors made (possibly basic) in more complex language. Pronunciation and intonation generally good.
5-6	Responds well to familiar, straightforward questions but experiences problems with more complex question forms. Conveys simple opinions. Deals with open questions but rarely expands. Dependent on teacher-examiner's structured language.	5-6	Offers some examples of subordination. Uses tenses without ambiguity. Mostly predictable lexical items deployed.	5-6	Generally accurate in simple, basic language despite a fair number of significant errors. Less accurate in more unfamiliar language situations. Some inconsistency. Pronunciation generally accurate.
3-4	Responses restricted to very straightforward questions. Answers invariably limited, short and very hesitant. Very dependent on teacher-examiners' language and prompts. Opinions limited to basic likes and dislikes.	3-4	Predominantly uses short main clause structures. Little or no awareness of tense concept other than the present. Inappropriate lexical items may impede communication at times. Deploys a very limited/repetitive range of structure and lexis.	3-4	Communicates main points despite high incidence of errors. Some 'pre-learnt' stereotypes correct but frequent and basic inaccuracy in manipulated language. Pronunciation inconsistent.
1-2	Produces minimal responses (mainly one-word replies or very short phrases). Limited comprehension of basic questions and limited response. Totally reliant on teacher-examiner's structured questions.	1-2	Operates only in most basic structures. Rarely offers complete sentences. Resorts frequently to non-target language.	1-2	Consistently inaccurate language. Pronunciation impedes basic communication most of the time. Offers only isolated examples of accurate language. Pronunciation very poor.
0	No rewardable communication/content.	0	No rewardable language.	0	No rewardable language.

Writing

Question 1 (Foundation)

Marked for communication only

Marks are awarded positively for each item/point communicated in such a way that a sympathetic native speaker can readily understand it. No marks are allocated for accuracy beyond that required for effective communication.

Question 2 (Foundation)

Communication and content		
5	All phrases are completed, perhaps with minor ambiguity or omission.	
4	Most of the phrases are completed. There may be some ambiguity or omission.	
3	About half of the required phrases are completed, though with some ambiguity.	
2	One or two phrases are completed but with some ambiguity.	
1	There is little meaningful communication.	
0	No effective communication.	
Knowledge and application of language		
5	Appropriate vocabulary. Correct syntax. Accurate spelling.	
4	Appropriate vocabulary. Correct syntax. All verbs correctly spelt. Spelling errors do not affect communication.	
3	Vocabulary mostly appropriate. Most verbs correctly spelt. Syntax, genders and agreements may be inaccurate.	
2	Some appropriate vocabulary. At least one verb correctly spelt. Inaccuracy impedes communication.	
1	Some appropriate vocabulary. No verbs correctly spelt. Isolated examples of correctly spelt words.	
0	No language worthy of credit.	

NB Words and phrases copied from the stimulus without appropriate modification cannot be awarded marks.

Question 3 (Foundation)

Marks are awarded globally across each task using the criteria below:

Communication and content

- 5 The task is completed, perhaps with minor ambiguity or omission.
- 4 Most of the task is completed. There may be some ambiguity or omission.
- 3 About half of the task is completed, though with some ambiguity.
- 2 One or two elements of the task are completed but with some ambiguity.
- 1 There is little meaningful communication single lexical items only.
- 0 No effective communication.

Knowledge and application of language

- 5 Appropriate vocabulary for the task. Correct syntax in simple phrases. Generally accurate with some lapses.
- 4 Basic errors evident but these rarely interfere with communication. Able to construct simple sentences with some lapses. Vocabulary and structures generally appropriate for the task. Some weakness in spellings, gender and verbs.
- Inaccurate language sometimes impedes communication. Shows some ability to construct simple sentences. Vocabulary and structures adequate to the task. Genders, spellings, verb forms inconsistent.
- Much inaccuracy which impedes communication. Some examples of simple sentence structure pre-learned phrases. Spellings and genders are often inaccurate or weak. Very limited verb forms. Vocabulary and structures only just adequate for the task.
- Frequent errors which prevent communication, only isolated examples of accurate, recognisable language odd words, phrases. No awareness of structure.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Overlap questions (Foundation: Question 4/Higher: Question 1)

Marks are awarded for **Communication and content** as well as for **Knowledge and application** and **Accuracy of language.** Please refer to the following grids:

Communication and content

- 9-10 Task clearly understood and responds fully to stimulus. Ability to narrate, expand, give full descriptions and express opinions as appropriate to task. Time sequence/verb tenses clear with no ambiguity. Piece clearly linked as a whole and relevant to set task. Coherent, pleasant to read.
- 7-8 Responds fully to all or nearly all of the task although there may be some minor omissions. Task clearly understood. Shows ability to go beyond a minimal response, and provides evidence of description and opinion as appropriate to the task. Time sequence/verb tenses generally sound with occasional lapses. Coherent with some lapses. Fairly clear, and reasonable attempt to link the piece into a whole. May be rather pedestrian or alternatively somewhat over ambitious.
- 5-6 Majority of task completed and relevant information conveyed although there may be some omissions. There may be some misunderstanding of the question leading to some irrelevance. Evidence of ability to go beyond a minimal response, beginning to expand ideas and express opinions, etc, suitable for factual/imaginative tasks. Appropriate use of verb tenses with some lapses, sometimes leading to ambiguity. Comprehensible overall with some attempt at linking piece into a whole. Ambiguous in places, especially if more ambitious language is attempted.
- 3-4 Main points of question completed but some of the task may have been misunderstood. Some relevant information conveyed but there may be major omissions and/or irrelevance, repetition. Level of response minimal with no evidence of description or opinions, etc appropriate to task. Some attempt at verb tenses but inconsistent and unreliable/insecure, leading to ambiguity. Just about comprehensible overall. Not easy to read.
- 1-2 Little relevant information conveyed. Much ambiguity and omission. Task generally misunderstood. Substantial degree of irrelevance and incoherence. Time indications/verb tenses required by the task are absent or unreliable. Except for isolated items would not be comprehensible to a native speaker.
- 0 No relevant communication.

Knowledge and application of language

- Vocabulary and structures comfortably equal to the task. Variety of vocabulary, idiom and structures appropriate for narrative and description eg expressing and justifying opinions, ideas and points of view, and to avoid repetition. Confident use of more complex structures such as pronouns, negatives, superlatives, range of tenses, although there may be the occasional lapse. Clear ability to manipulate language to suit purpose.
- Evidence of a range of vocabulary and structures appropriate to narrative and description, eg expressing opinions, justifying ideas and points of view. Some attempt to vary sentences by using more ambitious structures: subordinate clauses, pronouns, adverbial or other phrases, range of tenses, although these are unlikely to be wholly successful. Shows ability to manipulate language to suit purpose, albeit with mistakes.
- Vocabulary and structures adequate to task. Language appropriate for purpose; there may be occasional mother-tongue influence, which does not impede communication. Style basic, correct syntax when using simple, short sentences. Some longer sentences where syntax not always correct. Fairly correct use of standard idiom. Attempts enhancement of fact with adjectives and adverbial phrases with (some) success. Attempts to use subordinate clauses/simple linking. Evidence of correct formation of tenses with some lapses. Although there will be pre-learned, set phrases and attempts to manipulate the language, this may be only partially successful.
- 2 Limited vocabulary and structures, only just adequate to the task. Language basic and sometimes inappropriate to the task, some mother-tongue influence and words in non-target language. Sentences simple and usually short, syntactically more or less correct, occasional use of standard idiom. Some evidence of correct formation and use of verbs/tenses, though frequent lapses. Pre-learned, set phrases predominate and there will be no evidence of any ability to manipulate the language. Some attempt at enhancement of fact with adjectives or adverbial phrases though these are likely to be only partially successful. There may be some simple subordination.
- 1 Very limited language. Frequent use of mother-tongue or non-target language words greatly restricts communication. Language very basic and frequently inappropriate. Little understanding of language structures, eg the formation and use of tenses. There may be the occasional almost correct phrase or short sentence but this will be pre-learned or stereotyped.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Accuracy of language

- 5 High level of accuracy though not necessarily faultless. Spellings, genders, agreements, verb forms generally mastered with the odd slip. Secure when using more complex language but again there may be minor errors.
- 4 Generally accurate in straightforward language, most verb forms correct, secure in genders and agreements but the odd lapse. Spellings mostly accurate. Accuracy can be more variable when more complex structures are attempted.
- Fairly accurate in simple language. Some lapses in spellings and genders and verb endings. Inconsistency in verb forms but more correct than incorrect. Spellings of common words generally accurate. About half of what is written should be free of major errors; inaccuracy increases if more complex structures attempted. Despite error the message is communicated.
- 2 Many basic errors but main points communicated. Some correct phrases but frequent misspellings, inaccurate genders, incorrect verb endings.
- 1 Frequent basic errors and inaccuracies prevent communication. Isolated examples of correct language. Spellings and genders very weak. Little or no evidence of correct verb formation.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Question 2 (Higher Tier)

This question attracts marks for Communication and content, Knowledge and application of language and Accuracy. Please see the following grids:

Communication and content

- 13-15 Task clearly understood and responds fully to stimulus. Ability to narrate, expand, give full descriptions and express opinions as appropriate to task. Time sequence/verb tenses clear with no ambiguity. Piece clearly linked as a whole and relevant to set task. Coherent, pleasant to read.
- 10-12 Responds fully to all or nearly all of the task although there may be some minor omissions. Task clearly understood. Shows ability to go beyond a minimal response, and provides evidence of description and opinion as appropriate to the task. Time sequence/verb tenses generally sound with occasional lapses. Coherent with some lapses. Fairly clear, and reasonable attempt to link the piece into a whole. May be rather pedestrian or alternatively somewhat over ambitious.
- 7-9 Majority of task completed and relevant information conveyed although there may be some omissions. There may be some misunderstanding of the question leading to some irrelevance. Evidence of ability to go beyond a minimal response, beginning to expand ideas and express opinions, etc suitable for factual/imaginative tasks. Appropriate use of verb tenses with some lapses, sometimes leading to ambiguity. Comprehensible overall with some attempt at linking piece into a whole. Ambiguous in places, especially if more ambitious language is attempted.
- 4-6 Main points of question completed but some of the task may have been misunderstood. Some relevant information conveyed but there may be major omissions and/or irrelevance, repetition. Level of response minimal with no evidence of description or opinions, etc appropriate to task. Some attempt at verb tenses but inconsistent and unreliable/insecure, leading to ambiguity. Just about comprehensible overall. Not easy to read.
- 1-3 Little relevant information conveyed. Much ambiguity and omission. Task generally misunderstood. Substantial degree of irrelevance and incoherence. Time indications/verb tenses required by the task are absent or unreliable. Except for isolated items would not be comprehensible to a native speaker.
- 0 No relevant communication.

Knowledge and application of language

- 9-10 Vocabulary and structures comfortably equal to the task. Variety of vocabulary, idiom and structures appropriate for narrative and description, eg expressing and justifying opinions, ideas and points of view and to avoid repetition. Confident use of more complex structures such as pronouns, negatives, superlatives, range of tenses, although there may be the occasional lapse. Clear ability to manipulate language to suit purpose.
- 7-8 Evidence of a range of vocabulary and structures appropriate to narrative and description, eg expressing opinions, justifying ideas and points of view. Some attempt to vary sentences by using more ambitious structures: subordinate clauses, pronouns, adverbial or other phrases, range of tenses, although these are unlikely to be wholly successful. Shows ability to manipulate language to suit purpose, albeit with mistakes.
- 5-6 Vocabulary and structures adequate to task. Language appropriate for purpose; there may be occasional mother-tongue influence, which does not impede communication. Style basic, correct syntax when using simple, short sentences. Some longer sentences where syntax not always correct. Fairly correct use of standard idiom. Attempts enhancement of fact with adjectives and adverbial phrases with (some) success. Attempts to use subordinate clauses/simple linking. Evidence of correct formation of tenses with some lapses. Although there will be pre-learned, set phrases and attempts to manipulate the language, this may be only partially successful.
- 3-4 Limited vocabulary and structures, only just adequate to the task. Language basic and sometimes inappropriate to the task, some mother-tongue influence and words in non-target language. Sentences simple and usually short, syntactically more or less correct, occasional use of standard idiom. Some evidence of correct formation and use of verbs/tenses, though frequent lapses. Pre-learned, set phrases predominate and there will be no evidence of any ability to manipulate the language. Some attempt at enhancement of fact with adjectives or adverbial phrases, though these are likely to be only partially successful. There may be some simple subordination.
- 1-2 Very limited language. Frequent use of mother-tongue or non-target language words greatly restrict communication. Language very basic and frequently inappropriate. Little understanding of language structures, eg the formation and use of tenses. There may be the occasional almost correct phrase or short sentence but this will be pre-learned or stereotyped.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Accuracy of language

- High level of accuracy though not necessarily faultless. Spellings, genders, agreements, verb forms generally mastered with the odd slip. Secure when using more complex language but again there may be minor errors.
- 4 Generally accurate in straightforward language, most verb forms correct, secure in genders and agreements but the odd lapse. Spellings mostly accurate. Accuracy can be more variable when more complex structures are attempted.
- Fairly accurate in simple language. Some lapses in spellings and genders and verb endings. Inconsistency in verb forms but more correct than incorrect. Spellings of common words generally accurate. About half of what is written should be free of major errors, inaccuracy increases if attempts more complex structures. Despite error the message is communicated.
- 2 Many basic errors but main points communicated. Some correct phrases but frequent misspellings, inaccurate genders, and incorrect verb endings.
- Frequent basic errors and inaccuracies prevent communication. Isolated examples of correct language. Spellings and genders very weak. Little or no evidence of correct verb formation.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Writing - Coursework

Coursework should be marked globally across each complete unit. Each unit can attract up to 10 marks for Communication and content, five marks for Knowledge and application of language and five marks for Accuracy. Please refer to the following grids:

Communication and content

- 9-10 Unit task or tasks clearly understood and responds fully to stimulus. Ability to narrate, expand, give full descriptions and express opinions as appropriate to task. Time sequence/verb tenses clear with no ambiguity. Piece clearly linked into a whole and relevant to the task. Coherent, pleasant to read. Reference materials used well. Combines clear evidence of linked research with natural, creative (and possibly imaginative) writing.
- 7-8 Responds fully to all or nearly all of the unit task(s) although there may be minor omissions. Task clearly understood. Shows ability to go beyond a minimal response, and provides evidence of description and opinion as appropriate to the task. Time sequence/verb tenses generally sound with occasional lapses. Coherent with some lapses. Fairly clear, and reasonable attempt to link the piece into a whole. May be rather pedestrian or alternatively somewhat over ambitious. Effective use of reference materials and clear evidence of linked research. Creative (and possibly imaginative) writing well attempted where appropriate.
- Majority of the unit task(s) completed and relevant information conveyed, although there may be some omissions. There may be some misunderstanding of the stimulus leading to some irrelevance. Evidence of ability to go beyond a minimal response, beginning to expand ideas and express opinions, etc suitable for factual/imaginative tasks. Appropriate use of verb tenses with some lapses, sometimes leading to ambiguity. Comprehensible overall with some attempt at linking piece into a whole. Ambiguous in places, especially if more ambitious language is attempted. Effective use of reference materials and some evidence of linked research. Creative (and possibly imaginative) writing attempted where appropriate.
- 3-4 Key information given but some of the stimulus for the unit task(s) may have been misunderstood. Some relevant information conveyed but there may be major omissions and/or irrelevance, repetition. Level of response minimal with no evidence of description or opinions, etc appropriate to task. Some attempt at verb tenses but inconsistent and unreliable/insecure, leading to ambiguity. Just about comprehensible overall with moments of ambiguity. Over-reliant on the stimulus reference materials. Little evidence of linked research. Not easy to read.
- 1-2 Little relevant information conveyed. Much ambiguity and omission. Unit task(s) generally misunderstood. Substantial degree of irrelevance and incoherence. Time indications/verb tenses required by the task are absent or unreliable. Except for isolated items would not be comprehensible to a native speaker. Excessive or inappropriate 'lifting' from the stimulus or reference materials. No evidence of linked research.
- 0 No relevant communication.

Knowledge and application of language

- Vocabulary and structures comfortably equal to the tasks set within the unit. Variety of vocabulary, idiom and structures appropriate for narrative and description, eg expressing and justifying opinions, ideas and points of view and to avoid repetition. Confident use of more complex structures such as pronouns, negatives, superlatives, range of tenses, although there may be the occasional lapse. Manipulates source material successfully and appropriately.
- Evidence of a range of vocabulary and structures appropriate to narrative and description, eg expressing opinions, justifying ideas and points of view. Some attempt to vary sentences by using more ambitious structures, eg subordinate clauses, pronouns, adverbial or other phrases, range of tenses, although these are unlikely to be wholly successful. Shows ability to manipulate language and source material/stimulus to suit purpose, albeit with mistakes.
- Vocabulary and structures adequate to tasks set within the unit. Language appropriate for purpose, although there may be occasional mother-tongue influences which do not impede communication. Style basic, correct syntax when using simple, short sentences. Some longer sentences where syntax not always correct. Fairly correct use of standard idiom. Attempts enhancement of fact with adjectives and adverbial phrases with (some) success. Attempts to use subordinate clauses/simple linking. Evidence of correct formation of tenses, with some lapses. Although there will be pre-learned, set phrases and attempts to manipulate language and source material/stimulus, this may be only partially successful.
- Limited vocabulary and structures, only just adequate to the tasks set within the unit.

 Language basic and sometimes inappropriate to the task, some mother-tongue influences and words in non-target language. Sentences simple and usually short, syntactically more or less correct, occasional use of standard idiom. Some evidence of correct formation and use of verbs/tenses, though frequent lapses. Pre-learned, set phrases predominate and some incorrect and inappropriate copying of text from the source material/stimulus. Some attempt at enhancement of fact with adjectives or adverbial phrases, though these are likely to be only partially successful. There may be some simple subordination.
- Very limited language. Frequent use of mother-tongue influences or non-target language words greatly restrict communication. Language very basic and frequently inappropriate. Little understanding of language structures, eg the formation and use of tenses. There may be the occasional almost correct phrase or short sentence but this will be pre-learned or 'lifted'. Much incorrect and inappropriate copying of text from the source material/ stimulus.
- 0 No language worthy of credit.

Accuracy of language				
5	High level of accuracy though not necessarily faultless. Spellings, genders, agreements, verb forms generally mastered, with the odd slip. Secure when using more complex language but again there may be minor errors.			
4	Generally accurate in straightforward language, most verb forms correct, secure in genders, agreements but the odd lapse. Spellings mostly accurate. Accuracy can be more variable when more complex structures are attempted.			
3	Fairly accurate in simple language. Some lapses in spellings and genders and verb endings. Inconsistency in verb forms but more correct than incorrect. Spellings of common words generally accurate. About half of what is written should be free of major errors, inaccuracy increases if attempts more complex structures. Despite error the message is communicated.			
2	Many basic errors but main points communicated. Some correct phrases but frequent misspellings, inaccurate genders, incorrect verb endings.			
1	Frequent basic errors and inaccuracies prevent communication. Isolated examples of correct language. Spellings and genders very weak. Little or no evidence of correct verb formation.			
0	No language worthy of credit.			

NB: A higher proportion of marks are specifically allocated to accuracy of language in the written coursework option to reflect the different conditions of assessment.

Assessment overview

The table below provides an overview of assessment across all papers and indicates how new weightings for knowledge and application of language have been incorporated. The revised GCSE criteria for Modern Foreign Languages require a 40% minimum allocation of the marks within both writing and speaking papers.

Paper/task	Communication and content	Knowledge and application of language	Mark allocation	Total for paper
1F – Foundation	50	_	50	50
1H – Higher	50	_	50	50
2F – Foundation				
Rôle-play A	10	_	10	
Rôle-play B	10	_	10	50
Conversation Topic 1				
Conversation Topic 2	10	20*	30	
2H – Higher				
Rôle-play B	10	_	10	50
Rôle-play C	10	_	10	30
Conversation Topic 1				
Conversation Topic 2	10	20*	30	
3 F – Foundation	50	_	50	50
3H – Higher	50	_	50	50
4F – Foundation				
Task 1	10	_	10	
Task 2	5	5	10	50
Task 3	5	5	10	
Task 4	10	10**	20	
4H – Higher				
Task 1	10	10**	20	50
Task 2	15	15**	30	
4C Coursework	10	10**	20	20 x 3

^{*}Includes 10 marks for accuracy

^{**}Includes 5 marks for accuracy

Learning and teaching requirements for key stages 3 and 4

The specification complements and corresponds to the learning and teaching requirements for key stages 3 and 4 of the national curriculum for England as listed below.

Acquiring knowledge and understanding of the target language

Pupils should be taught:

- the grammar of the target language and its application
- how to express themselves using a range of vocabulary and structures
- the principles and interrelationship of sounds and writing in the target language.

Developing language skills

Pupils should be taught:

- how to listen carefully for gist and detail
- correct pronunciation and intonation
- how to ask and answer questions
- how to initiate and develop conversations
- how to vary the target language to suit context, audience and purpose
- how to adapt language they already know for different contexts
- strategies for dealing with the unpredictable
- techniques for skimming and for scanning written texts for information including those from ICT-based sources
- how to summarise and report the main points of spoken or written texts, using notes where appropriate
- how to redraft their writing to improve accuracy and presentation, including the use of ICT.

Developing language-learning skills

Pupils should be taught:

- techniques for memorising words, phrases and short extracts
- how to use context and other clues to interpret meaning
- to use their knowledge of English or another language when learning the target language
- how to use dictionaries and other reference materials appropriately and effectively
- how to develop their independence in learning and using the target language.

Developing cultural awareness

Pupils should be taught about different countries and cultures by:

- working with authentic materials in the target language, including some ICT-based sources
- communicating with native speakers
- considering their own culture and comparing it with the cultures of the countries and communities where the target language is spoken
- considering the experiences and perspectives of people in these countries and communities.

Breadth of study

During key stages 3 and 4, pupils should be taught **knowledge**, **skills and understanding** through:

- communicating in the target language in pairs and groups, and with their teacher
- using everyday classroom events as an opportunity for spontaneous speech
- expressing and discussing personal feelings and opinions
- producing and responding to different types of spoken and written language, including texts produced using ICT
- using a range of resources, including ICT, for accessing and communicating information
- using the target language creatively and imaginatively
- listening, reading or viewing for personal interest and enjoyment, as well as for information
- using the target language for real purposes
- working in a variety of **contexts**, including everyday activities, personal and social life, the world around us, the world of work and the international world.

The wider curriculum

Key skills

This specification will provide opportunities, as appropriate, to develop the key skills of information technology, improving own learning and performance, working with others and communication*.

Examples of such opportunities are signposted throughout the specification. It is important that these opportunities fall naturally into a programme of study, and it may be that not all the examples are appropriate for all programmes. The examples offered may be adapted to suit particular situations, and it will be possible to devise many alternative opportunities and approaches. The development of key skills can enhance teaching and learning strategies and can be a stimulus to new approaches, and increase levels of candidate involvement.

*Although learning a modern foreign language will greatly assist in the development of effective communication skills, it is important to stress that evidence for the key skill of communication can only be evidenced in English, Irish or Welsh.

Key skills opportunities are detailed more fully in *Appendix 5*.

Social, cultural, spiritual, moral and ethical issues

This specification contributes to an understanding of spiritual, moral, ethical, social and cultural issues.

Social and cultural issues

The ethos of any language course is to promote understanding of other cultures in addition to developing language knowledge. Use of the target language in a range of contexts and for different purposes offers natural opportunities for candidates to consider and express opinions on a variety of social and cultural issues. In particular, the specification identifies the importance of developing candidate awareness of 'current affairs, social and environmental issues'.

Spiritual, moral and ethical issues

General spiritual, moral and cultural values of society and the individual should also be upheld. The qualification encourages individual learning, pair work and group activities. When working with others, the respect of each member's personal beliefs is very important in building a positive and supportive environment in which to develop and respond. In producing and making notes on their own work and through research, candidates may address spiritual, moral and cultural implications and impact on others through their written and oral communication.

Education for citizenship

This specification makes a contribution towards coverage of the key stage 4 programme of study for citizenship. Study of a modern foreign language can enable candidates to understand and appreciate different countries, cultures, people and communities. They will be expected to learn about the customs, everyday life and traditions of the countries or communities where the target language is spoken.

This affords candidates an opportunity to consider themselves as world citizens as well as citizens of the United Kingdom and Europe.

Information and communication technology

Information and communication technology can play a vital role in supporting and stimulating modern foreign language learning. As the range of available software increases and as access to E-mail and Internet facilities becomes more widespread, it is expected that teachers will integrate ICT activities into the language-learning process. ICT provides an effective means of communication with foreign candidates and can facilitate independent target-language learning and research.

Environmental education, health and safety education and the European and global dimension

This qualification provides opportunities to support awareness of environmental issues, health and safety considerations and European developments consistent with relevant international agreements. This can be in the form of coursework projects or through activities undertaken within the context of everyday activities, personal and social life, the world around us, the world of work and the international world which feature in the qualification at both Foundation and Higher Tiers.

Textbooks and other teaching resources

Different publishers are engaged in producing GCSE 2003 textbooks and other learning resources across a range of languages. Edexcel will provide details of key publications and other materials suitable for the new specification. Centres are also advised to contact CILT and other organisations including the following:

ALL (Association for Language Learning)

150 Railway Terrace

Rugby

Warwickshire

CV21 3HN

Tel: 01788 546443

CILT (Centre for Information on Language Teaching)

20 Bedfordbury

London

WC2N 4LB

Tel: 020 7379 5110

Grant and Cutler Ltd

55-57 Great Marlborough Street

London

W1V 2AY

Tel: 020 7734 2012

European Schoolbooks Ltd

The Runnings

Cheltenham

GL51 9PO

Tel: 01242 245252

CTI Centre for Modern Languages

School of European Languages and Cultures

University of Hull

Cottingham Road

Hull

HU6 7RH (this is an information and research centre for IT and modern languages. It publishes a software guide, a journal (RECALL), and a RECALL newsletter)

Hispanic and Luso-Brazilian Council

Canning House

2 Belgrave Square

London

Sw1X 8PJ

Tel: 020 7235 2303

Consejería de Education

Embajada de España

20 Peel Street

London

W8 7PD

Tel: 020 7727 2462

Instituto Cervantes 102 Eaton Square London SW1 9AN

Tel: 020 7235 1484

Latin American Bureau 1 Amwell Street London

EC1R 1UL

Tel: 020 7278 2829

Channel 4 – Schools

PO Box 100 Warwick CV34 6TZ

Tel: 01926 436 444

BBC Education BBC Information PO Box 1116 Belfast BT2 7AJ

Tel: 08700 100 222

Authentik
27 West Land Square

Dublin 2

Tel: 0800 387 027 (Youth-orientated magazines and audio support etc)

Useful Internet site addresses

All the websites listed commence http://www.

The sites given represent a selection of the large number available. The list should not be regarded as recommended or exhaustive. It is suggested that interested teachers and candidates should experiment and pursue their own research to find suitable and helpful websites.

linguanet.org.uk/websites/websites.htm

Site maintained by CILT, provides links to a variety of sites for Spanish and other languages educationunlimited.co.uk/netclass/schools/modernlanguages/0,5 607,79833,00.html

This is a site hosted by *The Guardian* and *The Observer* and provides exercises and links for Spanish and other languages.

lgu.ac.uk/langstud/call/home.htm

Site from London Guildhall University, provides exercises (grammar, complete courses) in Spanish and other languages.

Softguides.com

eg, information about Madrid

quia.com/index.html

American site with interactive, mainly mnemonic exercises and exercises designed by teachers in many languages. It provides templates for designing your own exercises.

melchior.co.uk

Site for Spanish and other languages with exercises created by teachers. Offers wealth of authentic material.

bbc.co.uk/education/languages/gcsebitesize

channel4.com/schools

Examiners' comments and mark schemes

Examiners' comments and mark schemes will be issued to centres for each language after each examination session. Additional copies may be obtained from Edexcel Publications.

Support and training

Training

A programme of INSET courses covering various aspects of the specifications and assessment will be arranged by Edexcel each year on a regional basis. Full details may be obtained from:

INSET Edexcel Foundation Stewart House 32 Russell Square London WC1B 5DN

Tel: 020 7758 5620 Fax: 020 7758 5950

020 7758 5951 (second fax number) E-mail: inset@edexcel.org.uk

Website

www.edexcel.org.uk

Please visit the Edexcel website, where further information about training and support for all qualifications, including this GCSE, can be found.

The website is regularly updated, and an increasing amount of support material and information will become available through it.

Edexcel publications

Support materials and further copies of this specification can be obtained from:

Edexcel Publications Adamsway Mansfield Notts NG18 4FN

Tel: 01623 467467 Fax: 01623 450481

E-mail: publications@linneydirect.com

The following support materials will be available from spring 2001:

- coursework guide (internal assessment)
- teachers' guide
- candidate guide
- bilingual glossaries.

E-mail

A special E-mail facility has been set up which is dedicated to providing centres with a modern foreign language advice and information service. Queries can be sent direct to modernlanguages@edexcel.org.uk

Regional offices and Customer Response Centre

Further advice and guidance is available through a national network of regional offices. For general enquiries and for details of your nearest office please call the Edexcel Customer Response Centre on 0870 240 9800.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Rubrics	55
Appendix 2 – Linguistic structures	57
Appendix 3 – Minimum core vocabulary	61
Appendix 4 – Procedures for internal assessment	75
Appendix 5 – Key skills	93

Appendix 1 - Rubrics

Spanish rubrics

The key words and phrases that are likely to be used in rubrics across the papers are given below. They may be used either as printed or elements of them may be combined.

Instructions	struction	ons
--------------	-----------	-----

Apunta	
Busca	la palabra, la frase, los errores
Completa	el cuadro, las/estas frases (siguientes), la lista, la descripción, el formulario
Contesta	las preguntas, la carta
Copia	la palabra correcta, la frase, el número, la letra, el nombre
Corrige	los errores, las palabras subrayadas
Cuenta	
Ejemplo	
En cada casilla	pon el número del párrafo/de la frase/de la pregunta/de la palabra que corresponde a
Escribe	una lista, unas notas, el número, la letra, una descripción, las palabras que faltan, una carta (contestando las preguntas), un resumen
Escucha	la conversación, el anuncio, el diálogo
Haz una lista	
Identifica	
Indica	
Lee	el texto, la noticia, la carta
Llena	las casillas, los huecos
Mira	los dibujos, las fotos

Ordena...

...para indicar

Pon... una equis (x) en la/cada casilla (más) adecuada/correcta/ en las

casillas adecuadas/ en cada casilla adecuada, el número de..., la

letra, los títulos

¿Quién habla...?

Quieres escribir a

Rellena... los espacios con las palabras (más) adecuadas, cada hueco con

una palabra

Subraya... la palabra correcta entre las...alternativas que se ofrecen en cada

frase

Tienes que... corregir, escribir

OTHER WORDS AND PHRASES

Cada una de estas frases contiene un error...

¿Dónde se pueden leer/oír estas frases?

La palabra subrayada no es correcta. Escribe la palabra correcta.

Sólo una de estas frases es correcta.

Appendix 2 – Linguistic structures

Linguistic structures

GCSE candidates will be expected to have acquired knowledge and understanding of the grammar of the modern foreign language during their course. In the examination they will be required to apply their knowledge and understanding in tasks appropriate to the tier for which they are entered, drawing from the following lists which are divided into Foundation and Higher Tier

The examples in brackets are indicative, not exclusive. For structures marked (R), only receptive knowledge is required.

Spanish (Foundation)

Nouns: gender

singular and plural forms

Articles: definite and indefinite

lo plus adjective (R)

Adjectives: agreement

position

comparative and superlative: regular and mayor, menor, mejor, peor

demonstrative (este, ese, aquel)

indefinite (*cada*, *otro*, *todo*, *mismo*, *alguno*) possessive, short and long forms (*mi*, *mío*)

interrogative (cuánto, qué)

Adverbs: formation

interrogative (cómo, cuándo, dónde)

adverbs of time and place (aquí, allí, ahora, ya)

common adverbial phrases

Quantifiers/intensifiers (muy, bastante, demasiado, poco, mucho)

Pronouns: subject

object (R)

position and order of object pronouns (R)

reflexive

relative: que,

relative: quien, lo que (R)

disjunctive (conmigo, para mí)

demonstrative (éste, ése, aquél, esto, eso)

indefinite (algo, alguien)

interrogative (cuál, qué, quién)

Verbs: regular and irregular forms of verbs, including reflexive verbs

all persons of the verb, singular and plural

modes of address: tu and usted

radical-changing verbs

negative forms

interrogative forms

reflexive constructions (se puede, se necesita, se habla)

uses of ser and estar

tenses: present indicative

present continuous

preterite

imperfect: in weather expressions with estar, hacer

immediate future

future (R)

perfect

conditional: gustar only in set phrases

pluperfect (R)

gerund (R)

imperative: common forms including negative subjunctive, present: (R) in certain exclamatory phrases (¡Viva! ¡Digame!), for formal positive and

negative commands and for familiar negative commands

subjunctive, imperfect: quisiera

impersonal verbs: most common only

Prepositions: common, including personal *a*

uses of por and para

Conjunctions

Number, quantity, dates and time including use of desde hace with present tense

Spanish (Higher)

All grammar and structures listed for Foundation Tier plus:

Articles: *lo* plus adjective

Adjectives: comparative and superlative

possessive (cuyo)

Adverbs: comparative and superlative

Pronouns: object

position and order of object pronouns

relative: all other uses including quien, lo que, el que, cual

possessive (el mío, la mía)

Verbs: tenses: future

imperfect

imperfect continuous

pluperfect

conditional

passive voice (R)

gerund

present subjunctive: imperative, affirmation and negation, future with *cuando*, after verbs of wishing, command, request, emotion, to express purpose (*para que*)

imperfect subjunctive (R)

Time use of *desde hace* with the imperfect tense

Appendix 3 – Minimum core vocabulary

Minimum core vocabulary list - Spanish

The following vocabulary list is intended to assist teachers in the planning of work in relation to the programmes of study. Assessment tasks targeted at grades G-C will be based on this vocabulary list although they may include some unfamiliar vocabulary. Occasional glossing of individual words may occur in the examination, although this will be avoided whenever possible. In addition to the specified vocabulary, candidates will be expected to have, knowledge of numbers, times, days of the week, months, etc. Some of the vocabulary in the list is not unique to the topic under which it is listed and may appear under more than one heading.

It is useful for candidates to have access to this source of vocabulary and a bilingual glossary for Spanish can be obtained from Edexcel. It has been produced specially for candidates and provides English meanings, genders, plurals, etc and contains vocabulary lists grouped under the five Edexcel main topic areas as well as alphabetically. The glossaries will also contain vocabulary appropriate for activities targeted at grades $C - A^*$.

Home and abroad

a la derecha a la izquierda abrebotellas abrelatas aburrido actividades adelantar aduana aeropuerto

albergue juvenil

alquiler andar andén aparcar

afueras

aparcamiento arena

aterrizar autocar autopista avería avión aviso

ascensor

ayuntamiento

bajar balcón bañarse

banco

baño barco biblioteca bicicleta

billete (de ida/de ida y vuelta)

bolso
bruma
buen tiempo
buen viaje
bufanda
caballo
calle
calor
camarote
campo

carnet de identidad

carnicería caro

carretera/(nacional)

castillo catedral celebrar centro

centro comercial cerca/cercana

cerilla chalet chaparrón cielo

ciudad/pueblo

ciudad hermanada con...

claro clima

club de vacaciones

coche coche-cama colina comisaría hacer las maletas

con vista hacia

conducir hidrodeslizador

conocer hiio histórico consigna Correos iglesia correspondencia incluido costa industrial información cruce cruzar ir en camino cubierto lavabos dar la bienvenida lejos dar las gracias lento describir linterna desde llamar deshacer las maletas llamarse

día festivo llenar con gasolina

llegar

día libre lleno
dirección única llover
distracciones lluvia
divertido maleta
ducha malo
edificio mañana
egoísta mar

embotellamiento marcar un número

en el extranjero mediodía encontrar mercado encontrarse metro época montaña equipaje morir estación mosquito estación de autobuses moto estadio motocicleta estancia motor este museo estrella nacer excursión nacimiento felicidades niebla ferrocarril nieve ficha no potable norte finca folleto nube

frontera oficina de objetos perdidos

oeste

fuente oficina de turismo

gasolina oveja
gato país
gracias paisaje
grados palacio
gratis panadería
guardia pañuelo
gustar paquete

habitante parada de autobuses

hacer camping paraguas hacer dedo parar

frío

despegar

parque

parque zoológico

pasar

pensión completa

perder perdón

permiso de conducir

persona picar un billete

pie pietón pintoresco

piscina piso playa plaza

polideportivo

por favor

postal potable prohibido

pronóstico del tiempo.

próximo pueblo puente puerta

puerto quedarse querer quince días quiosco rápido

recepción

recibir recto región rellenar reservar

retraso revisor

saco de dormir sala de espera

sala de juegos seguridad seguir semáforo sin plomo sitio

sol subir sufrir suplemento sur

taquilla taza tazón

tiempo tienda

tirita todo recto tomar el sol torcer tormenta

torre tráfico tranquilo

transporte público

tren vaca vacaciones ver viaje viento

vista (tener vista a)

vivir volar

zona pietonal

Education, training and employment

adorar a pie aburrido alemán alumno anuncio aprender aprendiz aprendizaje archivador archivar asignatura aula autobús avisar

ayudar

bachillerato superior

bicicleta biología bolígrafo bueno buscar buzón cajero calcetines calculadora calificado camarero cambiar camisa

campo de deporte cancha de tenis

cantina fábrica carrera fácil falda carta favorito cartera ficha cartero charlar fontanero cita formación clase futuro coche ganar código gimnasio

colegio/instituto goma (de borrar)

comentar guardar guardería comida con experiencia gustar constructor hablando

hombre de negocios contable hora de comer contestador contestar horario corbata imprimir correo informática cortalápiz informático cuaderno ingeniero instituto cursor ¿de parte de quién? instructor deberes interesante deletrear italiano

desempleo jefe detención laboratorio lengua día dibujar libra esterlina

dibujo libro

dificil licenciatura

director llamada (telefónica)

diseño/trabajos manuales llamar disquete llamar/tocar

durar magnetofón/magnetófono/casete

edificio mal pagado

educación máquina de vídeo/magnetoscopio

educación física mecánico ejemplo médico

empezar mensaje electrónico

empleado metro empleo mochila empleo/trabajo no cuelgue empresario nota empresora ocupado enseñanza odiar oficina enviar olvidar error

escribir a máquina ordenador escuela pagado español pagar estuche página web estudiante palabra estudiar pantalla explicar pantalones

papel afeitarse peluquero agua mineral perder alfombra permitir almohada pizarra alto ama de casa

policía preferir amable

presentarse para un empleo amigo/camarada

primero de curso amistad procesador de textos amor profesor añadir progreso apellido programa aperitivo proyecto árbol química armario recreo arreglar arroz asado

regla remite/remitente repetir aseo resumen aspiradora reunión atún sacapuntas ayudar sala de música azúcar sala de profesores balcón seguir un curso barba sello bebé

sentarse beber software bebida sueldo boca supervisor bodega taxista bonito teclado botella brazo telefonear

tener que ver con cacerola terminar café (con leche)

tienda cafetera trabajar caja trabajo cama trimestre cansado último año cara universidad caracol vacaciones de verano carácter vendedor carne

carne de vaca

viajar viejo casa

vuelta al colegio casado zapatos casarse castaño Home, home and daily routine cebolla

cena abrebotellas cepillar abrelatas cereales abuela abuelo cereza cerveza aceite césped aceitunas

champiñón

acostarse

chica gafas chico gas chocolate caliente gato chuleta gemelo cobaya grifo cocina guardarropa cocinar guisantes

col/repollo

coles de Bruselas hacer la cama coliflor hacer los quehaceres

habitación

comedor harina comida helado compartir hermana/o conejillo de indias hermanastra/o

conejo hija confortable/cómodo hombre congelador honrado contento huerto cordero huevo

cortar ir de compras cortés jamón cortina jardín cuarto de baño jarro cubo de basura joven

judías verdes cuchara cucharadita/cucharada lámpara cucharilla lata cuchillo lavadora

cuello lavar los platos de retraso/tarde lavarse lavavajillas dedo delgado leche deportivo levantarse desayuno limón desierto limonada desnudarse limpiar despertador llave despertarse loro dirección luz dormitorio madre ducha maleducado dulce mamá enamorado de mañana

ensalada verde mano entremeses manta escalera mantel estéreo mantequilla familia manzana feo

máquina de afeitar

filete mariscos flor mayor frambuesa mejillón fregadero melocotón fregar menor fresa merienda fresco mermelada mezclar quedarse en la cama

microondas queso moqueta ratón

mostaza regresar a casa muebles rico/delicioso

muela/diente rizado muerto rodilla mujer rubio naranjada sabor

nata sacacorchos sal nevera niño salchicha salchichón nombre nombre de pila salmón oficina salón oído sartén padre servir sidra pan

pan tostado silla
pan y mantequilla sillón
papá simpático
pared sobrino
pastel sofá
patata sólo/único
patatas fritas soltero

paté sopa pato suelo tarde pavo pecho tarta pedir taza pelo tazón pepino té pequeño techo

pera perder

tener calor perezoso periquito tener frío tener hambre perro pescado ternera pez (de colores) terraza pie tía piña tímido piso tío

tejado

tenedor

piso/apartamento tomate
pistola tonto
planchar tortilla
planta tortuga
planta baja trabajar

plátano trabajar en el jardín

plato travieso
pollo triste
pomelo trucha
poner la mesa uva
puerta vaso
que aproveche vecino
quedarse ventana

verdura/legumbre falda verter/servir famoso vestíbulo guantes impermeable vestirse viejo inundación vinagre jersey maquillaje vino vivir medio ambiente moda VOZ zanahoria modelo

Media, entertainment and youth culture

actualidades/noticias

zumo

abrigo
actor
actuación
adulto
aficionado
algodón
asiento
bañador
billete/entrada

bolso bufanda calcetines camisa canal canción cantante cantar

chándal chaqueta cinturón

chaleco

clavo comedia concurso

contaminación costar

cuanto cuero/pelo culebrón de lana desempleo

dibujos animados

divertido

documental
droga
empezar
entrada
equipo
espectáculo
estrella
estudiante

móvil niño obra pantalones pañuelo

película de amor película de aventuras película de horror/miedo

pendientes periódico pintalabios pobre policíaco político precio programa rebaja rebajado reservar serie sociedad sombrero subtitulado suéter

surfear el Internet taladrar el cuerpo

tarifa teletexto

televisión de satélite

terminar tráfico triste vestido vestidos violencia

zapatillas deportivas

zapatos

Social activities, fitness and health

alcohol ahorrar ajedrez anillo año nuevo apertura

en el rincón ascensor atletismo encantado autoservicio encontrar bailar enfermo balón enfermedad bañarse enfermera banco equipo barato escaparate batería escuchar besar especialidad bien hecho estanco

bienvenido estar a punto de cerrar

billetero/monederoestómagobodaestrésbotellaexcursión

bricolaje felicitaciones/felicidades/enhorabuena

cabeza Feliz Año Nuevo caer enfermo Feliz Navidad

caja fiebre camarero fiesta cambio flauta

caña de pesca fuego artificial

caro fumar catarro garganta centro comercial gastar cheque de viaje cita gripe

club de noche hacer deporte club juvenil hacer equitación comprar hacer esquí aquático compras hacer monopatín comprimido hacer natación compromiso hacer vela confitería hacer windsurf constipado hacerse daño corresponsal hipermercado invitación costar ir de pesca cuanto jarabe cuenta cumpleaños joyas dar besos iovería dar un paseo juego de mesa charcutería juego electrónico

dentista juguete
deportista lectura
descansar leer

día de fiesta limpiarse los dientes/cepillarse los dientes

día libre marearse
dibujos animados medicina
dinero médico
disco compacto mejorarse
divertirse mercado
doctor monedero
dormir montar a caballo

droga montar en bicicleta

ejercicio nadar

nariz Navidad novela

número (zapatos) oficina de cambio

ojo pañuelo papelería pasatiempo

Pascua/Semana Santa pasear/andar/ir de paseo

pastelería

patines de ruedas

pedir perfume pescadería picadura picar pierna

pila pista de hielo plato del día polideportivo

precio presentar propina rebajas receta regalar regalo relajarse

reloj (de pulsera)

salir sano

Non-topic specific vocabulary

Acronyms

AVE
IVA
ONU
RENFE
Sr
Sra/s
Sres
Srta

Social conventions

adiós buenas noches

TVE

UE

buenas tardes gracias hasta la vista sección selección ser socio de serio

servicio incluído supermercado talla/tamaño (ropa) tarjeta de crédito tarta casera

tener dolor de cabeza tener dolor de espalda tener dolor de estómago tener dolor de garganta tener dolor de muelas/dientes

tener dolor de oído

terraza tiempo libre tienda

tienda de ultramarinos

tirarse
tomar
tomar el sol
toser
traer
turrón
tutear
vegetariano
vender
ver
viaje
violín
visitar
vomitar

hasta luego hasta manaña hasta pronto

hola

lo siento/perdón por favor saludos socorro

Prepositions

а

a través de al final de al lado de antes cerca de con contra debajo delante de desde después detrás durante/por en

en casa de encima entre

excepto fuera

hacia hasta lejos de

más o menos/sobre por todas partes

según sin

sobre/alrededor

Adjectives

agradecido al aire libre

alto antiguo apenado asqueroso bonito

bueno

cansado cerca/cercana cerrado

cerrado con llave

codiciado cómodo corto

de buen humor

de pie de prisa de valor débil dinámico

divertido duro emocionante encantador

enfadado entonces/siguiente

estricto
falso
fantástico
favorito
feo
fuerte
gordo

gratis

guapo

guay horrible igual increíble joven juntos ligero

limpio/propio

lleno
maduro
magnífico
maravilloso
necesario
nuevo
numeroso
otro
perfecto
pesado
real
roto

ruidoso

sabio/con buen comportamiento

sano satisfecho sensacional serio silencioso solo sucio tarde temprano típico terrible tonto último útil válido verdadero

Verbs

acompañar

abrir
aburrirse
acordarse de
apresurarse
beber
caer
callarse
cambiar
cerrar
coger
conducir
conocer
contar
contentar
creer

dar
decidir
decir
dejar
desear
discutir
dormir
elegir

dormir elegir empujar encender encontrar enfadarse entender entrar

escapar escribir esperar hablar intentar interesarse invitar ir de paseo

irse llorar manejar merecer mostrar

ocuparse de/cuidar

oír
parecer
pedir prestado
pensar
perdonar
poder
poner
preguntar

probarse/probar

prestar

querer
reír
saber
salir/partir
saltar
seguir
sentarse
sentir/pesar
ser/estar
sonreír
subir
tener

tener que/hay que terminar tirar tocar

tener éxito

tocar/llamar tomar utilizar venir visitar vivir

volver/regresar

Colours

amarillo
azul
blanco
castaño
claro
gris
marrón
negro
oscuro
rojo
rosa
verde

Adverbs

a menudo a veces allí aquí arriba casi demasiado

desde hace mucho tiempo

inmediatamente

más

más/bastante

muy por allí quizás

recientemente siempre sin embargo sobre todo

ya

Quantities

bastante
mucho
un paquete de
un poco
un poco de
un tercio de
un trozo de
una botella de
una docena de
una jarra de
una lata/caja de

Connecting words

después entonces

varios

pero por eso ¿por qué? primero

pues también

y

Time expressions

a tiempo a veces ahora ahora mismo al día siguiente al principio

ayer cada día

con/de retraso día

hoy mañana pronto quince días semana tarde

Expressions

el mío allí esta aquí tiene

¿cómo se escribe? con mucho gusto

depende en mi opinión estar a punto de estoy harto no exactamente no me importa

normalmente por supuesto qué pena suerte tanto mejor una vez más vale

voy bien Other words

a causa de

eso algo alguien centro/medio

como cosa esto fin forma

método/manera

no número por ejemplo señor señora señorita si SÍ tipo

todo el mundo

vez

Countries

Africa Alemania Austria Bélgica Inglaterra Dinamarca Escocia España

Estados Unidos

Europa Gran Bretaña Grecia Irlanda Italia Holanda (País de) Gales Portugal Reino Unido

Suecia

Suiza

Nationalities

africano alemán austríaco belga danés escocés español

estadounidense

europeo

francés galés griego holandés inglés irlandés italiano portugués sueco suizo

Areas/mountains

Andalucía Cataluña las Islas Baleares las Islas Canarias el País Vasco los Pirineos

Appendix 4 – Procedures for internal assessment

PROCEDURES FOR 2FA and 2HA – TEACHER ASSESSED ORAL EXAMINATION

Recording marks on Form L3

Please note that the L3 form has **five** sections for recording marks and **asterisks on the L3 form denote where marks should be entered**.

Please complete sections <u>1, 3 and 4</u> for Foundation candidates or <u>2, 3 and 5</u> for Higher candidates.

Please tick the appropriate box on section 6 and ensure that you do not write in the shaded boxes (moderator use only).

If the marking is being carried out by the teacher-examiner, insert the appropriate mark for each element in the relevant asterisked box marked 'Centre mark' on the L3.

Total the marks at the end of the test or at the end of the session. Insert total marks for the oral test, on the L3 in the box marked 'Final mark'.

Please note that the **Higher Tier** will be recorded out of **150**. The use of the digit **1** in front of the candidate's score is simply to register that the candidate has taken the **Higher Tier** examination – thus a candidate's mark of 122 is equivalent to a mark of 22/50 on Higher Tier. The Higher Tier final mark box already includes the digit **1** for the final mark.

However, when transferring the Higher candidates' marks to the 2HA OPTEMS form please remember to record the three-figure mark.

Internal standardisation of marking

Centres are reminded that it is their responsibility to ensure that where more than one teacher has marked the work, internal standardisation has been carried out. This procedure ensures that the work of all candidates at the centre is marked to the same standards. The statement confirming this on the OPTEMS or the EDI printout must be signed.

Consistency may be achieved in a variety of ways, some of which are given below.

- 1 A group of teachers may review the moderated tapes for the previous year's examination where appropriate to confirm that their marking is in line with national standards.
- 2 A group of teachers could listen to a selection of tapes (mocks/tests, etc) and agree assessment techniques and standards of marking with colleagues.
- 3 One teacher could sit in for the first hour of a colleague's oral examining and mark it independently.
- 4 Where staffing levels permit, the Head of Department or another experienced teacher could sit in on the examinations and assess all candidates while their own teacher conducts the tests.
- A group of teachers or a single experienced individual may prefer to play back all the recordings after the examinations and make appropriate adjustments to the assessments.

There are clear advantages and disadvantages with any of the methods shown above. Centres are **not** required to have more than one teacher in the examination room and, in the last analysis, each centre should choose the method which best suits its circumstances.

Procedures for recording and submitting marks for 2FA/2HA

All centres which have entered candidates for the teacher-assessed oral component will receive OPTEMS for 2FA (Foundation Tier) and 2HA (Higher Tier). Centres must complete the correct OPTEMS for each candidate according to the tier taken, 2FA or 2HA. (The tier not taken by the candidate should be left blank.)

If a candidate is absent please enter ABS on both OPTEMS (2FA and 2HA).

Please enter the candidate's final mark for the correct tier.

If a candidate has taken the **Foundation Tier (2FA)** a mark from 0-50 should be recorded.

If a candidate has taken the **Higher Tier (2HA)** a mark from **100 – 150** should be recorded.

Centres will have the option of:

EITHER

recording marks on an optically-read teacher-examiner mark sheet (OPTEMS), Section 1.

OR

recording marks on computer for transfer to Edexcel by means of electronic data interchange (EDI), Section 2.

Section 1: Centres using OPTEMS

- 1.1 OPTEMS will be pre-printed on three-part stationery with specification and paper number, centre details and candidate names in candidate number order. A number of blank OPTEMS for candidates not listed will also be supplied.
 - The top copy is designed so that the marks can be read directly by an optical mark reader. It is important therefore to complete the OPTEMS carefully in accordance with the instructions below. **Please do not fold or crease the sheets**.
- 1.2 Before completing the OPTEMS please check the subject, paper and centre details, to ensure the correct sheet is being completed.
- 1.3 All candidates entered by the deadline date will be listed on the OPTEMS.
- 1.4 Late entries will need to be added in pencil either in additional spaces on the preprinted OPTEMS or on one of the blank OPTEMS which will be supplied. Please note that full details of the centre, specification, paper, candidates' names and candidate numbers must be added to ALL blank OPTEMS.
- 1.5 The OPTEMS should be completed **using an HB pencil**. Please ensure that you work on a firm, flat surface and that figures written in the marks box go through to the second and third copies.
- 1.6 For each candidate, first ensure you have checked the arithmetic on the L3, then transfer the **Total Mark** to the box of the OPTEMS labelled 'Marks' for the correct candidate (please see exemplar).

1.7 Encode the component mark for each candidate for either 2FA or 2HA on the right-hand side by drawing a line to join the two dots inside the ellipses on the appropriate marks. Clear, dark **HB pencil** lines must be made but they must not extend outside the ellipses on either side of the two dots. Take care to remember the trailing zeros for candidates scoring 10, 20, etc and the leading zero for single figures, as shown.

If you make a mistake, rub out the incorrect marks and amend the number in the marks box and in the encoded section, but **please remember to amend separately the second and third copies** to ensure that the correct mark is clear on **each** copy.

Every candidate listed on the OPTEMS must have either a mark or one of the following codes in the marks box on either the 2FA or the 2HA OPTEMS.

0 (zero marks) should be entered only if work submitted has been found to be worthless. It should **not** be used where candidates have failed to submit work.

ABS should be entered in the marks box and an **A** in the encoded section for any candidate who has been absent or has failed to submit any work, even if an aegrotat award has been requested.

W should be entered in the marks box and the encoded section where the candidate has been withdrawn.

Exemplar

Encoded section

Candidate name	Number	Marks												
NEW ALAN JB	3200	0	(=0=) (=0=)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
OTHER AMY JB	3201	5	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
SMITH JOHN PN	3202	ABS	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
WATTS MARK JB	3203	20	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
STEVEN JANE PN	3204	49	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
JONES ANN PN	3205	100	(+0+) (+0+)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
RAJ PATEL PN	3206	115	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
WEST SARA JB	3207	W	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•₩•)

- Once completed and signed the three-part sets should then be divided and despatched within 48 hours of the examination, or retained as follows:
- 1.9 **Top copy** to be returned direct to Edexcel in the envelope provided. Please remember this form **must not be folded or creased**.
- 1.10 **Second copy** to be sent **with all the tapes** to the moderator. The name and address of the moderator will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately.
- 1.11 **Third copy** to be retained by the centre.

Section 2: Centres using EDI

- 2.1 Marks must be recorded on computer for 2FA and 2HA and transmitted to Edexcel within 48 hours of the examination. They must be recorded in accordance with the specifications in the booklet 'Formats for the Exchange of Examination Related Data using Microcomputers'. Each mark has a status as well as a value. Status codes are:
 - **S** valid non-zero mark recorded for all candidates
 - **Z** zero mark recorded for work submitted
 - **A** absent for component.

2.2 **Printout**

Centres are required to produce a printout of the centre-assessed marks and annotate it as described below, before forwarding it **together with the tapes within 48 hours of the examination**. The name and address of the moderator will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately.

ABS - absent

W – withdrawn

Where more than one teacher has assessed the work the teachers' initials or the set number should be given beside each candidate's name.

Centres are reminded that it is their responsibility to ensure that internal standardisation of the marking is carried out. The following **authentication** and **internal standardisation** statement should be written at the bottom of the printout and signed by the teacher responsible:

'I declare that the work of each candidate for whom marks are listed is, to the best of my knowledge, the candidate's own and that where several teaching groups are involved the marking has been internally standardised to ensure consistency across groups.'

Signed	Date
--------	------

NB Centres are advised to retain a copy of the annotated printout.

2.3 **L3s**

Centres will be provided with copies of the L3 on two-part NCR. The L3, to be completed for each candidate, provides the moderator with details of how each candidate's total mark has been reached. It is the teacher's responsibility to ensure that:

- all marks are recorded accurately and that the arithmetic is correct
- the total mark is transferred correctly onto the OPTEMS or via EDI.

Centres should send the **top copy** of the L3s separately to the **moderator** and **retain the bottom copy** for their records.

ACTION AFTER COMPLETION OF THE ORAL EXAMINATION FOR 2FA, 2HA, 2FB AND 2HB

Preparation and despatch of materials to the moderator/ examiner

Centres should send **all** tapes for 2FA/2HA or 2FB/2HB to the appropriate moderator or examiner.

For 2FA/2HA only, when all examining in the language concerned is complete, all L3 forms must be carefully checked and the total mark out of **50** for each **Foundation** candidate or out of **150** for each **Higher** candidate must be transferred to the appropriate box on OPTEMS for each paper. All relevant mark boxes must contain a mark.

All L3 forms must contain all the appropriate centre and candidate details – correct candidate numbers are essential.

All L3 forms must include rôle-play details and the conversation topics chosen by the candidate (Topic 1) and by the teacher-examiner (Topic 2).

All the L3 forms should be arranged in candidate number order.

Each tape must be numbered and the number indicated in the appropriate box on the L3 form.

Every cassette tape and box must be numbered and clearly labelled with centre name and number and the language being examined. Centres will be provided with photocopiable cassette inserts. Each side of each cassette must indicate the candidate numbers of candidates recorded on it.

Computer printed address labels will be supplied, showing the name of the examiner/moderator and the specification and paper numbers. As soon as all materials are ready and within 48 hours of the completion of examining within the language concerned, material should be despatched to the examiner/moderator in two separate consignments as follows.

For centres taking 2FA/2HA (marking by the teacher-examiner)

Parcel 1: Top white copies of L3 for all candidates (bottom copies to be retained by centre).

Parcel 2: All tapes, and the middle copy of OPTEMS or EDI printout.

For centres taking 2FB/2HB (marking by an Edexcel examiner)

Parcel 1: Both copies of L3 for all candidates

Parcel 2: All tapes and the top copy of the attendance register (bottom copy to be retained by the centre.

Where the size of the candidature makes it necessary to split parcels (whether of documentation or cassettes), they should be numbered clearly on the outside (eg package 1 of 2).

Centres are reminded that all candidates must be recorded and the recordings despatched to the examiner/moderator.



L3

GCSE Modern Foreign Languages Candidate Mark Sheet for Paper 2: Speaking

Candidate Name			Candidate Nº		
Centre Name			Centre Nº		
Language		Spec. Nº	Tape Nº		Side: A/B
teacher-examiner's Name (Block ca	pitals please)				
	(1) = 0.11.15 . = 10.11 = 0.11		 		

	(1) FOUNDATION: Rôle-plays A and B (Max mark = 20)												
	Rôle-play A	Ed. use only	Rôle-play B	Edexcel use only	Total A + B	Edexcel use only							
Card Nº		TL	Card N°	TL		TL							
	Centre mark (Max = 10)	Moderator mark (Max = 10)	Centre mark (Max = 10)	Moderator mark (Max = 10)	Centre total (Max = 20)	Moderator total (Max = 20)							
*			*		*								

OR

(2) HIGHER: Rôle-plays B and C (Max mark = 20)										
Rôle-play B	Ed. use only	Rôle-play C	Edexcel use only	Total B + C	Edexcel use only					
Card N°	TL	Card Nº	TL		TL					
Centre mark (Max = 10)	Mod. mark (Max = 10)	Centre mark (Max = 10)	Moderator mark (Max = 10)	Centre total (Max = 20)	Moderator total (Max = 20)					
*		*		*						

		(3) FOUNDA	TION and HIGHER	: Conversation (Max m	ark = 30)				
Topic Title(s)	1			2					
	Centre m	nark		Edexcel use only: Moderator mark					
Comm (Max = 10)	Lang (Max = 10)	Acc (Max = 10)	Total (Max = 30)	Comm (Max = 10)	Lang (Max = 10)	Acc (Max = 10)	Total (Max = 30)		
*	*	*	*						
				TL	TL	TL	TL		

(4) Final Mark (Max 5 FOUNDATION	0)
Total A + B	*
Conversation	*
TOTAL (/50)	*
Edexcel use only	

<u>OR</u>

(5) Final Mark (Max <u>1</u> 50) HIGHER								
Total B + C	*							
Conversation	*							
TOTAL (/150)	* 1							
Edexcel use only	1							

	Paper se tick)
2FA	
2НА	
2FB	
2НВ	

Moderator's Name (Block capitals please)		NPP N°	
--	--	--------	--

WRITING COURSEWORK

1 Summary of requirements

- a Students are required to submit three units of work from three of the five main topic areas identified in the specification.
- b A unit may include several short pieces of work, or may consist of a single piece of extended writing.
- c A copy of any stimulus material used must be submitted for each coursework task. Page references of commonly used textbooks may be given but centres may be asked by moderators for copies of these. (See Section 10.2b.)
- d Students aiming for grades G-D should aim to submit 250-350 words over the three units.
- e Students aiming for grades C-A* should aim to submit 500-600 words over the three units.
- f At least one third of the total work submitted by each student must be produced under controlled conditions and this **must include one complete unit** (see below).
- g A piece of work may be redrafted once only and the original version must be included in the student's coursework folder. Teachers must not correct individual mistakes, but should make general comments. These should be recorded on the standard coursework feedback forms and teachers must **not** write on the samples of student coursework.
- h Students should have access to a dictionary at all stages during the production of their coursework.
- i Edexcel will require teachers to authenticate the coursework by signing the coursework frontsheet. Centres are reminded that where students have collaborated, eg on the production of questionnaires or surveys, credit may only be given to a student for work that can readily be identified as his/her own. The inclusion of the work of another student, not acknowledged as such, could render the student liable to disciplinary action by Edexcel.

Teachers will award a global mark out of 20 to each unit of work. Tasks which make up the unit must not be awarded individual marks.

2 Controlled conditions

- a Work must be done in the classroom and supervised by the teacher.
- b Students may only have access to the stimulus for the task and a dictionary.
- c All stimulus material other than a dictionary must be submitted in the student's folder. For students aiming at grades G-D this may be items such as photographs, diagrams, gap-fill letters and short messages. For students aiming at grades C-A* this may be an article, letter or brochure, and/or notes in the form of headings only and on no more than half a page of A4.

- d If work is not completed in a single session, the teacher must store it securely until the next controlled conditions session.
- e At least a third of the total coursework for each student must be produced under controlled conditions, but teachers may increase this proportion at their discretion.

3 Guidance and feedback to students

- a Teachers may wish to give students the opportunity to redraft their work, in which case teachers are reminded that they should not mark student's work, underline or otherwise indicate errors, nor correct specific points of language.
- b If the teacher feels that redrafting or refining is appropriate, she/he may make general comments on the coursework feedback form, ie indicate an area of content that would benefit from greater detail or highlight general areas of language that need attention, such as agreements, verbs, accents, etc.

Teachers should indicate on the coursework frontsheet if they found it necessary to offer students help beyond that specified above. This must then be taken into account when awarding marks.

4 Standardisation of marking within centres

In accordance with the Code of Practice, where two or more teachers are involved in the assessment of work, it is the responsibility of the centre to standardise the marking of all teacher-examiners to ensure that all students in the centre have been judged by the same standards. In order to ensure that there is effective internal standardisation the following procedures may be adopted:

- a coursework tasks can be standardised in advance
- b when students have completed a unit of work each teacher brings samples of work including the **best, worst** and **average** from their class to a meeting
- c at the meeting work is compared, discussed and cross-marked. A common standard is agreed
- d after the meeting teachers assess the work of all their own students
- e a designated person takes a small sample from each teacher and checks that a common standard has been applied by all teachers. At this stage adjustments can be made if necessary.

5 Procedures for recording and submitting coursework marks

All centres will receive optically-read teacher-examiner mark sheets (OPTEMS). Centres will have the option of:

EITHER

recording marks on an optically-read teacher-examiner mark sheet (OPTEMS), Section 6

OR

recording marks on computer for transfer to Edexcel by means of Electronic Data

Interchange (EDI), Section 7

Sections 8 and 9 apply whichever option is selected and deal with coursework record sheets and the sample of work required for moderation.

6 Centres using OPTEMS

- 6.1 OPTEMS will be pre-printed on three-part stationery with syllabus and paper number, centre details and candidate names in candidate number order. A number of blank OPTEMS for candidates not listed will also be supplied.
 - The top copy is designed so that the marks can be read directly by an optical mark reader. It is important therefore to complete the OPTEMS carefully in accordance with the instructions below. **Please do not fold or crease the sheets**.
- Before completing the OPTEMS please check the subject, paper and centre details, to ensure the correct sheet is being completed.
- All candidates entered by the deadline date will be listed on the OPTEMS, except those carrying forward their centre-assessed marks from the previous year. Such candidates will be listed on a separate OPTEMS coded T for Transferred. Any OPTEMS coded T should be checked, signed to confirm the transfer, and the top copy returned to Edexcel. No mark should be entered.
- 6.4 Late entries will need to be added in pencil either in additional spaces on the preprinted OPTEMS or on one of the blank OPTEMS which will be supplied. Please note that full details of the centre, specification, paper, candidates' names and candidate numbers must be added to ALL blank OPTEMS.
- 6.5 The OPTEMS should be completed **using an HB pencil**. Please ensure that you work on a firm, flat surface and that figures written in the marks box go through to the second and third copies.
- For each candidate, first ensure you have checked the arithmetic on the coursework record sheet, then transfer the **Total Mark** to the box of the OPTEMS labelled 'Marks' for the correct candidate (please see exemplar).
- 6.7 Encode the component mark on the right-hand side by drawing a line to join the two dots inside the ellipses on the appropriate marks. Clear, dark **HB pencil** lines must be made but they must not extend outside the ellipses on either side of the two dots. Take care to remember the trailing zeros for candidates scoring 10, 20, etc and the leading zero for single figures, as shown.
- 6.8 If you make a mistake rub out the incorrect marks completely. Amend the number in the marks box and in the encoded section, but **please remember to amend separately the second and third copies** to ensure that the correct mark is clear on every copy.
- 6.9 Every candidate listed on the OPTEMS must have either a mark or one of the following codes in the marks box.
 - a **0** (zero marks) should be entered only if work submitted has been found to be worthless. It should not be used where candidates have failed to submit work
 - b **ABS** should be entered in the marks box and an A in the encoded section for any candidate who has been absent or has failed to submit any work, even if an aegrotat award has been requested.
 - c W should be entered in the marks box and the encoded section where the candidate has been withdrawn.

Exemplar

Encoded section

Candidate name	Number	Marks												
NEW ALAN JB	3200	0	(=0=)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
OTHER AMY JB	3201	5	(•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
SMITH JOHN PN	3202	ABS	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
WATTS MARK JB	3203	20	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
STEVEN JANE PN	3204	49	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)
JONES ANN PN	3205	100	(=0=)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(*100*) (*A*)	(•200•) (•W•)
RAJ PATEL PN	3206	115	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(*100*) (*A*)	(•200•) (•₩•)
WEST SARA JB	3207	W	(•0•) (•0•)	(•10•) (•1•)	(•20•) (•2•)	(•30•) (•3•)	(•40•) (•4•)	(•50•) (•5•)	(•60•) (•6•)	(•70•) (•7•)	(•80•) (•8•)	(•90•) (•9•)	(•100•) (•A•)	(•200•) (•W•)

- Where more than one teacher has assessed the work, the teacher's initials or set number should be given to the right of each candidate's name as illustrated.
- 6.11 The authentication and internal standardisation statement on the OPTEMS must be signed. Centres are reminded that it is their responsibility to ensure that internal standardisation of the marking has been carried out.
- Once completed and signed the three-part sets should then be divided and despatched by early May (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel) or retained as follows:
- a **Top copy** to be returned direct to Edexcel in the envelope provided. Please remember this form **must not be folded or creased.**
- b **Second copy** to be sent **with the sampled coursework** as appropriate to the moderator. The name and address of the moderator will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately.
- c Third copy to be retained by the centre.

7 Centres using EDI

- 7.1 Marks must be recorded on computer and transmitted to Edexcel by **early May** (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel). They must be recorded in accordance with the specifications in the booklet 'Formats for the Exchange of Examination Related Data using Microcomputers'. Each mark has a status as well as a value. Status codes are:
 - V valid non-zero mark recorded; candidate not pre-selected as part of the sample for moderation
 - S valid non-zero mark recorded and candidate included in sample for moderation

- **Z** zero mark recorded for work submitted
- N no work submitted but candidate **not** absent
- **A** absent for component
- **M** missing mark; no information available about the candidate's previous performance
- **F** mark carried forward from a previous examination series. (If the mark status is 'F', then no mark follows.)

The OPTEMS provided will indicate, with asterisks, the candidates whose work is to be sampled, where this is pre-selected.

7.2 Printout

Centres are required to produce a printout of the centre-assessed marks and annotate it as described below, before forwarding it **together with the sampled coursework** as appropriate to the moderator, **to be received by early May (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel).** The name and address of the moderator will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately.

ABS - absent

W - withdrawn

* - sampled candidate

✓ – additional sampled candidates.

Where more than one teacher has assessed the work the teacher's initials or the set number should be given beside each candidate's name.

Centres are reminded that it is their responsibility to ensure that internal standardisation of the marking is carried out. The following **authentication** and **internal standardisation** statement should be written at the bottom of the printout and signed by the teacher responsible:

'I declare that the work of each candidate for whom marks are listed is, to the
best of my knowledge, the candidate's own and that where several teaching
groups are involved the marking has been internally standardised to ensure
consistency across groups.'

Signed	Date

Centres are advised to retain a copy of the annotated printout.

8 Coursework frontsheets

- 8.1 A copy of the coursework frontsheet is given in this appendix for centres to photocopy. The coursework frontsheet, to be completed for each candidate, provides details for the moderator of how each candidate's total mark has been reached. It is the teacher's responsibility to ensure that:
 - all marks are recorded accurately and that the arithmetic is correct
 - the total mark is transferred correctly onto the OPTEMS or via EDI
 - any required authentication statement is signed by the candidate and/or teacher as appropriate.
- 8.2 Where a candidate's work is included in the sample the coursework record sheet should be attached to the work.

9 Sample of work for moderation

9.1 **The pre-printed OPTEMS is asterisked indicating** the candidates whose work is to be sampled. This work, together with the second copy of the OPTEMS, should be posted to reach the moderator **by early May (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel).** The name and address of the moderator will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately.

In addition, the centre must send the work of the candidate awarded the **highest** mark and the work of the candidate awarded the **lowest mark**, if these are not already included within the initial samples selected. The centre should indicate the additional samples by means of a tick () in the left-hand column against the names of each of the candidates concerned.

For all sampled work the associated record sheet must be attached to each candidate's work.

If the pre-selected sample does NOT adequately represent ALL parts of the entire mark range for the centre, additional samples in the range(s) not covered should also be sent to the moderator. As above, additional samples should be indicated by means of a tick (\checkmark).

For centres submitting marks by EDI the candidates in the sample selected on the OPTEMS should be marked with an asterisk (*) or a tick (), as appropriate, on the EDI printout. The annotated printout must be sent to the moderator with the sample of work.

9.2 Where the pre-printed OPTEMS is not asterisked and there are 11 or fewer candidates, the coursework of ALL candidates together with the second copy of the OPTEMS should be posted to reach the moderator by early May (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel). The moderator's name and address will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately. The associated record sheet must be attached to each candidate's work.

If there are more than 11 candidates, the centre should send the second copy of the OPTEMS or the annotated EDI printout to reach the moderator by early May (date to be specified in advance by Edexcel). The moderator's name and address will either be printed on the OPTEMS or supplied separately. The moderator will advise the centre of the candidates whose work, with the associated record sheets, should be posted to the moderator by return.

9.3 **In all cases** please note that the moderator may request further samples of coursework, as required, and the work of all candidates should be readily available in the event of such a request.

There will be no asterisks on the OPTEMS supplied for 2FA and 2HA orals.

Internal standardisation

Centres are reminded that it is their responsibility to ensure that where more than one teacher has marked the work, internal standardisation has been carried out. This procedure ensures that the work of all candidates at the centre is marked to the same standards. The statement confirming this on the OPTEMS or the EDI printout must be signed.

10 Presentation of coursework

- 10.1 The work of each candidate should be fastened together using string, tags or similar fasteners. It may be secured in a thin card or paper cover supplied by the centre, but stiff-backed files, lever-arch files, etc should not be used.
- Only work to be assessed, as prescribed by the specification, should be included, ie classroom activities. Verb tables, vocabulary lists, etc should not be included unless these were used as specific stimuli.

The coursework submission for each candidate should include:

- a three units of coursework, each clearly marked with the candidate's name, the date, and a note of the conditions under which each piece of work/unit was completed
- b a copy of all stimulus materials used. One copy of each piece of stimulus material is sufficient. If reference to a specific textbook is made, please include one photocopy of each page referred to together with the stimulus materials (or page references in the case of commonly used textbooks). Centres must be able to produce copies of these if required by the moderator
- c original versions of and teachers' comments on any pieces of work which have been redrafted
- d one coursework frontsheet form CF1 for each candidate (photocopiable from the appendices)
- e the teacher's signed declaration (at the bottom of form CF1) to authenticate the coursework as the candidate's own.

11 Form CF1 coursework frontsheet

- One form must be completed for each candidate. Enter the centre number, candidate details and subject details in the boxes at the top left of the form (photocopiable from the CF1 form in this appendix).
- In the columns below enter the date on which each unit was completed, the tasks and stimuli for each unit and a note of the conditions under which the work was produced. In the columns at the right-hand side of the page note the marks awarded out of 10 for Communication and content and out of five for Knowledge and application of language, and Accuracy of language. In addition please enter the approximate number of words per unit and the topic area.
- 11.3 Add together the marks from both columns to give a final total out of 60 and write this mark in the box at the top right of the form.
- 11.4 Sign and date the form to authenticate the candidate's work.

12 Moderation procedures

- 12.1 The marks submitted to Edexcel for paper 4C will be moderated in accordance with the requirements set out in section 4 of the Code of Practice for the GCSE.
- 12.2 An approved moderator will be assigned to each centre by Edexcel.
- 12.3 The moderator will be responsible for standardising marks across several centres.
- 12.4 The moderator may request a second sample from the centre if deemed necessary.
- 12.5 Centres' marks will be adjusted where the moderated and unmoderated marks differ. Normally, moderation will not affect the order of merit established by a centre. However, Edexcel will take appropriate action in cases where there is evidence of inconsistent assessment in order to align standards. If necessary, such centres will be directed to review their assessment and internal moderation procedures.
- 12.6 Edexcel will provide centres with their moderated marks. The moderator will write a report for each centre containing advice, comments and reasons for adjustments, if made.
- 12.7 Coursework not submitted for external moderation should be retained by the centre, in secure conditions, until 1 December of the examination year. In the event of an Enquiry About Results involving coursework, the Head of the centre will be asked to confirm in writing that the coursework has been held under secure conditions by the centre following the submission of the OPTEMS form.

Coursework feedback sheet (CFS1)

CONTENT	
Task completion	
Some parts of the task have not been covered	
Fails to meet the requirements of the task	
Presentation	
Presentation and layout to be tidied up	
Interest	
Add some more ideas/introduction/conclusion	
Give more description	
Give more opinions/reasons	
Vary type of sentence more	
Vary your vocabulary more	
QUALITY OF LANGUAGE	
Check verb tenses and formation	
Check spellings and accents	
Check word order	
Check nouns and genders	
Check adjectives and agreements	



GCSE MFL COURSEWORK

Checklist for final submission

Centre name
Centre number
Specification number
Teaching group
Language
each piece of work/unit/tape referenced with name, date, and title
conditions of each piece of work/unit/tape noted, eg homework, controlled
copies of stimulus materials included
first drafts included as necessary
approximate word-count requirement met for each student
appropriate coverage of topic areas
final marks entered on frontsheet
frontsheet signed by the teacher
all units secured in a paper folder
each unit has been assessed globally



Coursework Frontsheet for Paper 4C: Writing Coursework GCSE Modern Foreign Languages

NB: A copy of any stimulus material used should be included in the candidate's folder. Short course candidates submit only 2 units and the total mark is out of 40.

(Bloc	(Block capitals please) Centre Name	ease)								Candidate N° Centre N°	
1										Spec. N°	
Language	ıage									Spec. N°	
Unit N°	Date unit completed	Task types (including stimulus used)	uding stimulus id)	Approximate number of words	Controlled/ not controlled		Candidate's marks	narks		For Edexc	For Edexcel use only
						Communication (Max = 10)	Application (Max = 5)	Accuracy (Max = 5)	Total (Max = 20)	Moderator total	TL
1											
2											
3											
Tea	Teacher: I h	I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge that this work has been produced wit assistance beyond that recorded and allowed by the scheme of assessment.	ne best of my kno at recorded and al	wledge that the slowed by the s	his work has scheme of ass	been produced wassment.	ithout any		Total mark (Max 60)	For Edexcel use only Moderator total	se only TL
Name	of examining	Name of examining teacher (Block capitals please)	oitals please)		Signature		Date				

Appendix 5 – Key skills

This GCSE offers a range of opportunities for students to:

- develop their key skills
- generate assessed evidence for their portfolio.

In particular, the following key skills can be developed through this specification at level 2:

- information technology
- improving own learning and performance
- working with others
- *communication.
- * Although learning a modern foreign language will greatly assist in the development of effective communication skills, it is important to stress that evidence for the key skill of communication can only be evidenced in English, Irish or Welsh.

Copies of the key skills specifications can be ordered from Edexcel Publications.

The individual key skills units are divided into three parts:

- Part A: what you need to know this identifies the underpinning knowledge and skills required of the student
- Part B: what you must do this identifies the evidence that students must produce for their portfolio
- Part C: guidance this gives examples of possible activities and types of evidence that may be generated.

This GCSE specification signposts development and internal assessment opportunities which are based on Part B of the level 2 key skills units. For those students working at level 1, these level 2 opportunities can also be used to generate evidence at level 1. Reference should be made to the appropriate level 1 statements in the key skills specifications.

The evidence generated through this GCSE will be internally assessed and contribute to the student's key skills portfolio. In order to achieve the key skills qualification, students will need to take the additional external tests associated with communication, information technology and application of number. Centres should check the current position on proxy qualifications as some students may be exempt from part or all of the assessment of a specific key skill.

Each paper (listening, speaking, reading and writing) within all the modern foreign language GCSEs featured in this specification will provide opportunities for the development of the key skills identified. This appendix identifies the key skills evidence requirements and also provides a mapping of those opportunities. Students will need to have opportunities to develop their skills over time before they are ready for assessment. This appendix contains illustrative activities for each key skill that will aid development and facilitate the generation of appropriate portfolio evidence. To assist in the recording of key skills evidence Edexcel has produced recording documentation which can be ordered from Edexcel Publications.

Mapping of key skills: summary table

Key skills (level 2)	Paper 1	Paper 2	Paper 3	Paper 4
Information technology				
ІТ2.1	/	1	✓	/
ІТ2.2			✓	/
ІТ2.3				•
Working with others				
WO2.1	/	1	✓	/
WO2.2	<i>\</i>	/	<	•
WO2.3	/	1	✓	/
Improving own learning and performance				
LP2.1	<i>\</i>	1	< ·	•
LP2.2	\	1	< ·	•
LP2.3	<i>\</i>	/	<	•
Communication				
C2.1a	<i>\</i>	1		
C2.1b		1		1
C2.2			<	•
C2.3				<

Information technology level 2

Early drafts of documents could be e-mailed to tutors for initial comments and feedback. CD ROM, etc could be used to collect information. Documents can be produced using relevant software and images may be incorporated in those documents. When producing work for any of the GCSEs in this specification, students will have numerous opportunities to use information technology. The Internet,

and evidence generation and/or other parts of their GCSE course. numbers through the use of a spreadsheet application, or some aspects of database use. In this situation, students may use standalone IT sessions for development As part of their modern foreign language programme students may not be able to generate sufficient evidence required for this unit, for example working with

Key ski	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement	GCSE paper(s)	Opportunities for development or internal assessment
IT2.1	Search for and select information for two different purposes	1, 2, 3, 4	Students will need to identify suitable sources of information and effectively search for information using multiple criteria. Information selected should be interpreted and students should decide what is relevant for their purpose.
			A student could, using key words, search, locate and extract target-language information from Internet or other ICT sources on a given topic as appropriate to the activity. (Eg – reviewing a tourist bulletin of a given locality and then selecting suitable holiday activities for different people with specific interests or requirements).
IT2.2	Explore and develop information, and derive new information for two different purposes	3 _, 4	Students are required to bring together information in formats, such as tables, that help development. The information should be explored by, for example, changing information in a spreadsheet model. Information should also be developed and new information derived as appropriate, for example through the use of headings, tables, charts and graphs.
			New information could be derived from websites, eg football league table or another sports-related source from a target-language country, and this could be compared with results from the previous year and, using different formulae, converted into tables. This could provide a stimulus for further research and language development, eg students could discover more information about a certain club and key players.
			Eg a student could undertake research into the 'Most Popular Weekend Activities' identified by contributors to an Internet discussion group in the target language. This information could be transferred into a table and provide a stimulus for an article (to be word processed in the target language). Additionally, students could contribute to the online discussion.

	images and one example of numbers	This work must include at least one example of text, one example of	IT2.3 Present combined information for two 4 different purposes.	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement GCSE paper(s)
Eg a student could undertake a task such as the 'Weekend Activities' article (see IT2.2) and develop this as a piece of word-processed extended writing in the target language. This could possibly be enhanced with suitable graphics and charts/tables. The student would choose a suitable layout and insert symbols as appropriate to the target language.	The final piece of work should be suitable for its purpose and audience, eg GCSE coursework, OHTs/handouts for a presentation, etc. The document should have accurate spelling (use of spell-checker) and have been prooffead.	refined to suit both the purpose and the needs of the audience (early drafts should be kept as portfolio evidence).	In presenting combined information students will need to select and use appropriate layouts in a consistent way through, for example, the use of margins, headings, borders, font size, etc. Layouts, etc should be	Opportunities for development or internal assessment

Evidence

Student evidence for information technology could include:

- tutor observation records
- notes of sources used
- print-outs with annotations
- draft documents.

Working with others level 2

To achieve this key skill, students are required to carry out at least two activities. One example must show that they can work in one-to-one situations and one example must show that they can work in group situations. Students will plan their work with others and confirm working arrangements; work co-operatively towards achieving identified objectives, and exchange information on progress.

Key skill	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement	GCSE paper(s)	Opportunities for development or internal assessment
WO2.1	Plan straightforward work with others, identifying objectives and clarifying responsibilities, and confirm working arrangements	1, 2, 3, 4	Students should identify the objectives of working together and the tasks, resources and timescales required to meet these objectives. Information should be exchanged to clarify responsibilities. For example suggesting ways help can be given, asking what others can do, checking their own and others' responsibilities. The group needs to confirm responsibilities and working arrangements.
			Eg students agree tasks and responsibilities for carrying out a project comparing likes and dislikes about school with other class members- undertaking research, planning questionnaires, writing articles.
			Eg students plan an informative web page or video project on their town intended for a target language audience.
WO2.2	Work co-operatively with others towards achieving identified objectives, organising tasks to meet responsibilities	1, 2, 3, 4	Students will need to organise tasks so that responsibilities can be met, for example obtaining resources, completing tasks on time, etc. Tasks should be completed accurately and safely. Cooperative ways of working should be supported through, for example, anticipating the needs of others, avoiding actions that offend, etc. Advice from others, including group members, tutor, etc should be sought when needed.
			Eg students actively engage in activities to ensure completion of the 'School' project as mentioned above.
W02.3	Exchange information on progress and agree ways of improving work with others to help achieve objectives	1, 2, 3, 4	Once completed the full group needs to review outcomes against the agreed objectives. In doing this they should identify what has gone well and what has gone less well. Students should listen and respond to progress reports from others and agree ways of improving work with others to help achieve objectives.
			Eg students react appropriately to assessment from teacher and peers – acknowledging areas of weakness and identifying ways to improve target-language performance.

Evidence

Student evidence for working with others could include:

- tutor observation records
- preparatory notes
- records of process and progress made.

Improving own learning and performance level 2

Within these MFL GCSEs, students will have opportunities to develop and generate evidence that meets part of the evidence requirement of this key skill

programme or from enrichment activities. opportunities for students to study a straightforward subject. Evidence for learning through a practical activity may come from other GCSEs in the students' performance through studying a straightforward subject and through learning through a straightforward practical activity. This GCSE in Spanish will provide To achieve this key skill, students will need to provide at least two examples of meeting the standard required. Students are also required to improve their

should work without close supervision. However, students should seek and receive feedback, from tutors and others, on their target setting and performance. Activities that generate evidence for this skill should take place over a period of a few weeks. Over the period of the activity there will be times when the students

Any project work (including coursework) is a suitable learning activity and may be used to generate evidence for this key skill.

Key skill	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement	GCSE paper(s)	Opportunities for development or internal assessment
LP2.1	Help set short-term targets with an appropriate person and plan how these will be met	1, 2, 3, 4	Students plan how they are to meet short-term targets with an appropriate person, eg agreeing a project with their tutor. This will include setting realistic targets and action points. Review dates with, for example, their tutor should be built into the plan.
			Eg discussing planning and research procedures for a given coursework task and agreeing deadline for plan and/or initial draft. This could be adapted for non-coursework tasks across all skills.
LP2.2	Take some responsibility for some decisions about your learning, using	1, 2, 3, 4	The plan should be implemented with performance reviews and should include working for short periods without close supervision.
	your plan and support from others to help meet targets.		Eg agree to undertake independent study/homework as directed and respond to teacher guidance, interpreting general teacher/feedback and identifying errors within texts through consulting reference
	Improve your performance by:		books, teacher or language assistant.
	 studying a straightforward subject 		
	 learning through a 		
	straightforward practical activity		

Evidence

Student evidence for improving own learning and performance could include:

- tutor records
- annotated action plans
- records of discussions
- learning log
- work produced.

Communication level 2

For the communication key skill, students are required to hold discussions and give presentations, read and summarise information, and write documents. Students will be able to develop all of these skills through an appropriate teaching and learning programme based on this GCSE specification.

Key ski	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement	GCSE paper(s)	Opportunities for development or internal assessment
C2.1a	Contribute to a discussion about a straightforward subject	1, 2	Many of the topics in this specification are suitable as the basis of a group discussion. The discussion should be about a straightforward subject. This may be a subject often met in their studies, etc and the vocabulary will be familiar. During the discussion students should make clear and relevant contributions, listen and respond to others, helping to move the discussion forward.
			Eg students choose a topic for discussion about different types of film. They would prepare this and then contribute to a class/group discussion. This activity would encourage students to give and justify opinions.
C2.1b	Give a short talk about a straightforward subject, using an image	2, 4	Following a period of research students could be given the opportunity to give a short talk to the rest of their group.
			During the talk students should speak clearly in a way that suits the subject and situation. They should keep to the subject. The structure of the talk should help listeners follow points made. The talk should include an image to illustrate main points clearly. Images could include, charts and diagrams, pictures or models, maps, etc.
			For example, a student could make a short presentation about their work experience. The presentation could be enhanced with a copy of a page from the work diary to illustrate the daily work routine and activities undertaken.

Key ski	Key skill portfolio evidence requirement	GCSE paper(s)	Opportunities for development or internal assessment
C2.2	Read and summarise information from two extended documents about a straightforward subject	2, 3, 4	Students will have a number of opportunities to read and synthesise information from two extended documents, for example as part of their preparation for the discussion and talk, or as preparation for a piece of written work for their GCSE.
	One of the documents should include at least one image		Extended documents may include textbooks and reports and articles of more than three pages. At least one of these documents should contain an image from which students can draw appropriate and relevant information.
			Students will need to select and read relevant material. From this information they will need to identify accurately the lines of reasoning and main points from the text and images. Students will then need to summarise this information in a form that suits the purpose, eg for a talk, discussion or an essay.
			Eg a student could read two extended letters from students living in a country where the target language is spoken giving information about and their views on a particular topic (eg school life). Students could then extract and summarise the main points from each letter.
C2.3	Write two different types of documents about straightforward subjects	4	Students are required to produce two different types of document. At least one of these should be an extended document, for example a report or an essay of more than three pages.
	One piece of writing should be an extended document and include at least one image		The document should present relevant information in an appropriate form. At least one of the documents should include an appropriate image that contains and effectively conveys relevant information. The information in the document should be clearly structured, eg through the use of headings, paragraphs, etc.
			Students should ensure that the text is legible and that spelling, punctuation and grammar are accurate.
			Eg a student could undertake an essay about a special occasion or visit. They could enhance the presentation with an annotated story board incorporating photographs, drawings, etc. This would be ideal preparation for the development of extended writing skills. Students could write a letter about a different topic as a contrasting activity.

Evidence

Student evidence for communication could include:

- tutor observation records
- preparatory notes
- audio/video tapes
- notes based on documents read
- essays.

UG008964 - Specification - Edexcel GCSE in Spanish - Issue 1 - November 2000

Further copies of this publication are available from Edexcel Publications, Adamsway, Mansfield, Notts, NG18 4FN

Telephone 01623 467467 Fax 01623 450481 E-mail: publications@linneydirect.com

Order Code UG008964 November 2000

For more information on Edexcel qualifications please contact our Customer Response Centre on 0870 240 9800 or E-mail: enquiries@edexcel.org.uk or visit our website: www.edexcel.org.uk

Edexcel Foundation is a registered charity and a Company Limited By Guarantee Registered in England No. 1686164

